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Thursday, September 24, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


Good morning.  My name is Emad Elsayed, and I will be presiding over this proceeding.  With me on the Panel is my fellow Board member, Ms. Christine Long.  The OEB sits today and tomorrow -- possibly tomorrow; I understand there is some discussion about trying to finish today, but we will see -- on the matter of an application filed by Union Gas Limited with Ontario Energy Board on December 12, 2014 to construct a pipeline and ancillary facilities in the Town of Milton and the Town of Oakville and for approval to recover the cost consequences of the development of the proposed project.


The Board assigned this application File No. EB-2014-0182.  The record sets out the various procedural steps that have taken place so far.


The purpose of this hearing is to provide an opportunity for the interested parties to cross-examine both Union and the expert retained by the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, or CME, and Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers, or OGVG, regarding evidence related to the need for the project and alternatives to the project.


May I have appearances, please.

Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  Charles Keizer on behalf of Union Gas Limited, and with me is Mr. Mark Kitchen and Ms. Vanessa Innis.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Chair and Ms. Long.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.  Mr. DeRose, as you understand, is not with us this morning, so I would like to put an appearance on behalf of Mr. Vince DeRose on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  And, in his absence, I would also like to introduce for the record -- make an appearance for Ms. Agnes Cheung, whose evidence you would have read in this proceeding.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.

 
MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Rubenstein.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Long.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and with me today are Zora Czrnojacki and Pascale Duguay.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, if I may, I would also like to put in an appearance for Mr. Crawford Smith, who will be examining CME's witness.  Unfortunately, I have travel arrangements that were scheduled, so I will be here for the Union panel, and Mr. Smith will be examining Ms. Cheung.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Any preliminary matters?


MR. KEIZER:  We have none.


DR. ELSAYED:  No?  Okay.  We did, I think, provide just a draft preliminary -- or a preliminary hearing plan just as a guide for today and tomorrow, and that is, I think, what you have been working with to try and see if it can be optimized a little bit more.  So this is just a guide, and I just encourage everyone to avoid, if possible, I guess, any repetition of issues that have been raised, so -- and we will see what we can -- we will review where we are, I guess, at the break and decide where we go from there.


So I guess we will now start with the introduction of the Union witness panel, please.


MR. KEIZER:  I think, Mr. Chair, I will introduce the panel.  Starting first with the panellist closest to me is Ms. Pat Elliott.  Next to Ms. Elliott is Mr. Christopher Shorts.  Next to Mr. Shorts is Mr. Mark Isherwood, and then Mr. Jim Redford, and then finally at the end of the panel is Mr. Dan Wallace.  If I could ask for them to be affirmed.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1


Pat Elliott, Affirmed


Christopher Shorts, Affirmed

Mark Isherwood, Affirmed

Jim Redford, Affirmed

Dan Wallace, Affirmed

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Ms. Long.  So Mr. Keizer, do you want to --


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I have just some direct evidence to put to the witnesses and take them through.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  It shouldn't take too long.


Starting first with you, Ms. Elliott, you are director of planning forecasting with Union Gas Limited; is that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee of Union Gas Limited since 1981?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. KEIZER:  And through that time, you have had various roles of increasing responsibility; is that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas Limited, adopt the evidence --


MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.


MR. KEIZER:  -- that's been filed on behalf of Union Gas Limited?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Ms. Elliott.


Mr. Shorts, you are the director of gas supply and customer support; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And you have been employed with Union Gas Limited since 1986?


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And through that time, between then and now, you have had roles of increasing responsibility; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas Limited, adopt the evidence that's been filed in this matter by Union Gas?


MR. SHORTS:  I do.


MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Isherwood, you are vice-president, business development, storage, and transportation; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee of Union Gas Limited since 1982.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  And also through that time, you have had roles of increasing responsibility.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have.


MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas Limited, adopt the evidence that's been filed in this matter by Union Gas Limited?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Redford, you are director, business development and upstream regulation?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And you have been employed either with Union Gas or some of its affiliated entities since 2001; is that correct?


MR. REDFORD:  No, since 1989.


MR. KEIZER:  1989.  I guess I misread the CV.  Thank you for correcting me.


And through that time, you have had increasing roles of responsibility; is that correct?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas Limited, adopt the evidence that's been filed in this proceeding?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I do.


MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Wallace, you are manager, system planning and project development?


MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee of Union Gas Limited since 2000?


MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.


MR. KEIZER:  And you have, over that period of time, had increasing areas of responsibility.


MR. WALLACE:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas Limited, adopt the evidence that's been filed in this proceeding?


MR. WALLACE:  I do.


MR. KEIZER:  I have just a few other just very short questions, and I have discussed one of these with respect to -- with Mr. Millar and with Mr. Quinn, and it relates to the chart which you see on the easel here in the hearing room, and I am going to ask Mr. Redford if I could ask him to help facilitate today's discussions and hopefully provide some orientation to the Board and to the participants today.


If you could very briefly take us through that chart and describe to us how gas is delivered to the Burlington-Oakville system and -- both now and once the -- when the proposed pipeline is in effect.

MR. REDFORD:  Thank you.  Good morning, Panel.  This is a complex area within Union's service territory, and what makes it complex is that both Union and TransCanada have facilities within the area, and today Union transports natural gas using both those pipeline systems.


MR. KEIZER:  Can I just take a moment -- we have coloured copies of this, and do you both have it?  Thank you.


MR. REDFORD:  This is Attachment 1 to Exhibit BOGV.1, and it is a map of the Burlington-Oakville system, which is a subject of the application, and the surrounding areas, and I hope to provide some context.


I am going to start with Union's service territory.  Of course, Union has service territories across Ontario, and the Burlington-Oakville system is in Union's Hamilton-Halton district.


The area of the Burlington-Oakville system is shaded in yellow on the map, and there are other areas within Union's Hamilton-Halton district that are also within Union's service territory.  The first is west of the Burlington-Oakville system, which is in Hamilton, in the Hamilton area.  And the second is to the north of the Burlington-Oakville system, which is in the Town of Milton, right in the Milton area.  Those are represented by the rather dense green lines on the map, and those green lines represent existing piping within our distribution system.


With respect to Union's pipeline system, Union's main transmission system, the Dawn Parkway system, runs through this area; it starts at Dawn.  If you look on the map, it's not shown, but it would be west of Kirkwall, and it ends at Parkway, which is at the top of the map.


It also -- that Dawn Parkway system also connects to Kirkwall, and that's with the TransCanada system, and you can see that on the left-hand side of the map.


Union has three high-pressure pipelines of note that feed the Burlington-Oakville system.  The first is the 8-inch Milton line, which runs from the Milton Gate line down to the Third Line and NPS 20 station.  It is fairly faint blue on the map, but you can see the 8-inch label right there.


The second line that runs to the Burlington-Oakville system is the 12-inch Parkway line, and it runs from the Parkway transmission station, which is at the end of the Dawn Parkway system, to Union's Bronte gate station.  That line, you can see a 12-inch label with an arrow.  It sits in between the orange and red lines on the map.


And then, finally, the third pipeline of note is the 20-inch Oakville to Burlington pipeline.  It runs from the Bronte Gate station to the Burlington Gate station, headed down diagonal low left. It's a darker blue line and parallels the red line on the map.


This 20-inch pipeline really is the backbone of the Burlington-Oakville system, and virtually all the distribution laterals in the Burlington-Oakville system run off of this pipeline.


I mentioned the third line in NPS 20 station, which the 8-inch Milton line ends at; that's also connected to the 20-inch Oakville to Burlington line.


I am going to turn to the TransCanada system; it's an overview of Union's system in the area.  TransCanada divides its pipeline into domestic delivery areas.  These are located across TransCanada's system at points where they feed domestic markets.  There are eight of those domestic delivery areas in Ontario.


The Burlington-Oakville system and the surrounding areas are located in what TransCanada calls its central delivery area or the CDA, and you will hear that term used.  And the CDA itself is further divided.  The area that we are discussing is known as the Union CDA because it connects to Union's markets off of TransCanada.


Within the Union CDA, there are four interconnects to Union's system, and those are on the Burlington-Oakville system.  They are the Burlington Gate station and the Bronte Gate station.  Also connected in the CDA to TransCanada's system are Hamilton Gate No. 3 and the Kirkwall Dominion station, which are not part of the Burlington-Oakville system but are shown as the green squares that are at the bottom of the map.


And then, as a result of the mainline settlement agreement between TransCanada and the eastern LDCs, TransCanada will further divide the Union CDA into the Union ECDA, which would be the Union eastern central delivery area, and the amended CDA.


So the Union ECDA will be the Burlington Gate station and the Bronte Gate station, and the amended Union ECDA will be the Kirkwall Dominion gate station and the Hamilton Gate No. 3 station.


And that's an overview of TransCanada's delivery areas, the pipelines.  They do have two pipelines that run through the area, and they are shown in red on the map.  The 20-inch domestic line runs from Niagara, basically, to Parkway and from Niagara to Burlington.


The pressure at the Burlington Gate station -- pardon me, the pressure runs at about 650 pounds or 4480 KPA from Burlington Gate station to Parkway.  The domestic lines run at a higher pressure of 6450 KPA or 935 pounds.  So the domestic line is different pressures on either side of the Burlington gate station.


The second pipeline is the Niagara export pipeline, perhaps better called the Niagara import pipeline now, but the Niagara export line.  It runs from Niagara to Kirkwall, and runs at 1,000 pounds or 6895 KPA.  And there is a second -- there is a connection from Chippewa, which is also, like Niagara, a point on the Ontario-New York border, and the line from Chippewa runs up and connects into that Niagara export line.


As you can see on the map, the Burlington Gate station and the Bronte Gate station are both connected to the domestic line, TransCanada's domestic line.  Outside of the Burlington-Oakville system, the Kirkwall Dominion station is connected to the Niagara export line, and Hamilton Gate No. 3 station is actually connected to both the Niagara export line and the domestic line.


So, today, the Burlington-Oakville system is fed through both Union's pipelines and TransCanada's.  We use the 8-inch Milton line and the 12-inch Parkway line to feed gas into that 20-inch Oakville to Burlington line, to feed the Burlington-Oakville system.  We also take gas from the Bronte Gate station and Burlington Gate station off of the domestic line.


About 75 per cent of the design day today is received through TransCanada's system and would be contracts via third-party providers, including TransCanada themselves. Union's proposal is to build a new pipeline, the Burlington-Oakville pipeline -- largely because we haven't said Burlington-Oakville enough already -- and it's shown in orange on the map.  It's on the upper right-hand side and labelled "20-inch", and that goes from Union's new Parkway West compressor station.  The takeoff will be located there, and it will go down to the Bronte Gate station.  Union would then serve all or substantially all of the Burlington-Oakville system from the Dawn Parkway system, and this proposed pipeline is the most economic means of providing supply to the rapidly growing Burlington-Oakville area.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Redford.  I just had a question for Mr. Isherwood.


There appears to be some confusion as to whether Union will be required to pay for the 135 TJs per day under the Kirkwall contract.  Could you please provide your understanding of that obligation?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly.  Good morning, Panel.


Exhibit C, pages 19, 20, and 21 get to the same question.  I just want to add a bit more clarity this morning.


The settlement agreement that Mr. Redford referred to was signed in 2013 between TransCanada and the three utilities.  It was very clear what happens if Burlington-Oakville is approved by the Board, and there were some things that happened.


And what happens is, as Mr. Redford described, the CDA gets divided into smaller pieces.  As well, Union Gas commits and has agreed to a contract for 135 TJs per day of capacity from Kirkwall to the Union-amended CDA.


So the settlement was very explicit in terms of what happens if the Burlington-Oakville project is approved.  If not, it is not explicit in terms of what happens if we don't get approval to build the project.


But it is our expectation that, if Burlington-Oakville does not get approval to proceed, TCPL will immediately initiate discussions with Union to have Union contract for this path.


And from our point of view, it's identical to the situation that existed in 2011 when TransCanada came to us -- in 2011 or prior to 2011, Union was delivering gas to Parkway thinking Parkway was part of the CDA; therefore, if it got to Parkway, it got to the CDA.  And TCPL rightly said, "Well, gas at Parkway doesn't get to Burlington and doesn't get to Bronte Gate without using our pipeline," so they asked us to contract for more capacity on that short path, then from basically Parkway to those two gate stations.


So, in Kirkwall, it's the same thing that is happening today is we are getting a free service.  Today, we deliver gas to Kirkwall.  We nominate gas to Kirkwall, deliver to Kirkwall, and TCPL then operationally takes it to both the Kirkwall Gate station, Kirkwall Dominion, and Hamilton Gate No. 3, so, essentially, it's a free service that they are providing, and it's been that way forever.  I don't know the history.  It goes back well before my time.  But it is nonetheless a free service identical to what is happening at Parkway today.


It's the expectation that, at the ending of the NEB, that TCPL would maximize revenue.  They would charge customers for services they are taking, and it is the expectation of other shippers that TCPL charges for services other customers are taking.


If I was looking at the TCPL system and knew that Enbridge or central Manitoba was getting a free service, I would take exception to that, because the more revenue TCPL makes, the lower my rates will be, so customers that have the same expectation and TCPL shareholders, because there is an earnings sharing mechanism in the background, TCPL themselves would expect them to maximize revenues.  So there is no doubt in my mind that, if Burlington-Oakville does not get approved, that TCPL would initiate those discussions and we would be contracting for that service.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Isherwood.


Just one other point of clarification, and I direct this to you, Ms. Elliott.  If I could direct your attention to Figures 5.4 and 5.5 of Exhibit C, which is Union's reply evidence.  It's at pages 28 and 29.


There are two charts, and the charts represent the costs with respect to the Burlington-Oakville pipeline and the alternative that's been proposed, and obviously there's some divergence of that line, which reflects the fact that there are cost differences.


So we have the image, but my question is, is -- or what is the relative cost difference between the alternative project -- the alternative and the project over the life of 40 years, as represented in these charts?  I don't believe that number is currently on the record.


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  Over the 40-year life, the difference between the pipeline option and the alternative proposal is $391 million undiscounted.  It's a $145 million net present value difference in favour of the pipeline option.


If you look at Figure 5.5, what we have done there is compare the scenario of the alternative proposal without the Kirkwall contract that Mr. Isherwood just spoke to.  You can see that the line moves down when you remove the cost of that contract, but the difference is still in favour of the pipeline project, $68 million undiscounted over the 40-year life and a $5-million net present value differential in favour of the pipeline over the same time.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Ms. Elliott.


And then, finally, Mr. Shorts, Union will have to contract for capacity for the 2015-2016 year to serve Burlington-Oakville.  Can you update the Board as to the status of providing that capacity?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, thank you.


On August 28, about four weeks ago, Union was able to secure a new one-year, non-renewable, firm transportation contract with TransCanada to transport 61,888 GJs a day from Parkway belt to the Union CDA.  This contract will start November 1 of 2015.  It replaces the secondary market contract that we had in place over the last few winters, and it bridges our need until we can get the Burlington-Oakville project in service November 1 of 2016.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Shorts.


One thing we didn't do in the initial part of the examination, but we should do before we finish:  Union filed the statement of qualifications for each of the witnesses that are here today, and I believe we should probably mark that as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe you have copies of that with you, so unless there are any objections, this will be Exhibit K1.1, and it's essentially the CVs of the witnesses.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Union WITNESSES PANEL CVs


MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment?


Those are our examinations in-chief.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


So I think, Mr. Quinn, you go next.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, sir.


I think, at the outset, if I may, we would like to file our compendium.  With apologies to the Board, I put together a compendium to try to move us through in an efficient manner, and I noted that, in putting the page numbers on as I am going to move through, it removed the references at the top where there were references.


I will speak the references into the record, which hopefully will help the witnesses and the court reporter, and the record will be clearer, but I have provided those copies in advance and would like them -- be asked they're marked as an exhibit unless there is any objections.


MR. KEIZER:  Can we ask that, when my friend has an opportunity, when we file on the formal record, that he file a new version showing the cites just so we don't have to trace back between the transcript and the document, but the one that is actually ultimately filed will have the cites on it?


MR. QUINN:  Absolutely, sir.  That would be -- I would be very amenable to that, and I apologize, because I, frankly, made a mistake.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  It's Exhibit K1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  FRPO cross-examination COMPENDIUM.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Good morning to our Union witness panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn.  I am here on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario, and I think I know most of you from past proceedings.


I am going to try to move us through this for the efficiency by using the compendium, but I trust you will want to have your references, so if I am not clear at any time, please ask, and I will provide you the specific reference.


An important matter -- and I appreciate Mr. Redford's overview in the provision of OGVG 1, as we many times will be referring to that, so I would ask that you maybe keep that colour copy handy, and I will refer back to it periodically.


Starting off, the first reference that I would like you to turn up is Exhibit A, tab 7, page 5, Table 7.4, which can be found at page 1 of our compendium.


Would you agree with me that both the physical and commercial alternatives contemplate transporting gas in a southerly direction from Parkway to Oakville and Burlington, generally speaking?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I would say, in general, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


So, in this table, none of the alternatives that Union looked at were for transporting gas northerly or northeasterly from Niagara through Burlington and Oakville; correct?


MR. REDFORD:  We did not include those in Table 7.4.  We did look at that as part of Union's reply evidence, which is, I believe, Exhibit C.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We will come to that.  Thank you, Mr. Redford.


So I want to just understand Union's way of communicating.  We communicate differently sometimes in the industry, and we adopt our own vernacular, but I want to make sure we are clear for the record in the area of how gas flows.


When a customer contracts from Kirkwall to Dawn, for Kirkwall to Dawn contract in your system, does that mean the gas molecule must move from Kirkwall to Dawn for that customer when the customer nominates it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union Gas will operate the system given the demands in the system each and every day.  So even though a customer may contract a path, the physical gas may flow in different patterns, but if they want to ensure a firm capability of going from Kirkwall to Dawn, as an example, then they would have to contract for that, but the physical flow may be different on any given day.


But they still -- from a gas balance point of view, it shows up at Dawn, but it may be by displacement.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


So Union operates its system on an aggregate basis.  In other words, you look at the aggregate demand and the aggregate system capacity plus third-party transport?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  So, in that case, does your customer actually dictate in which direction their nominated gas moves on your system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They do dictate where they want the gas to show up.  So if they want to go from Kirkwall to Dawn, they would actually place a nomination into Union Gas the day before asking for the gas to be moved, and we would move it for them either directly on the path or by displacement.  But it does show up on their balances on their customer statements as showing up at Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  It shows up at Dawn.  Bu I was speaking to the physical movement of the gas.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may or may not be physical; it could be by displacement.


MR. QUINN:  It could be by displacement.  In other words, so we are clear, displacement would mean that the gas could arrive at Kirkwall, and the physical molecules may, in fact, head east on your system as opposed to flowing back to Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  So physical and financial are different.  But from a customer balance point of view, it shows up at Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  And to my question, the gas molecules could move physically east?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Could move in any direction.


MR. QUINN:  And I am asking specifically east.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may flow east.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So it's Union who decides how to best design its system to meet its customer demands and how best to operate its system to meet those demands; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  Would you agree that a prudent pipeline will not allow its customers to dictate the path that the gas molecules move between the contracted receipt and delivery point?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The contracts that we have with our customers have no mention of how gas physically flows.  It just shows how they flow contractually, commercially.


MR. QUINN:  So then a prudent pipeline would not allow its customers to dictate that path?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  And Union is one of those prudent pipelines?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  Is TransCanada one of those prudent pipelines?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  So assuming TransCanada, like Union, is a prudent pipeline, they will not allow a customer to dictate a specific transportation path; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The customer will select the path that they need to make the gas -- I guess to operationalize the path they want the gas to go, but they will not dictate how the gas physically flows.  But they will pick the points that they need the gas to go to, to make it all work, and how TCPL gets it there or Union Gas gets it there is up to the pipeline company.


MR. QUINN:  So I think the answer we heard was the customer does not dictate the specific path; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They dictate the path by picking the two points.  How TCPL gets the gas between the two points is up to TCPL.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the specific clarification, Mr. Isherwood.  They do not dictate the physical flow --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  -- of the gas?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


So if I could ask you to turn up from the technical conference, page 136, and --


MR. KEIZER:  Is this in your compendium, or is it separate?


MR. QUINN:  It is part of my compendium, sir.  And because the page references aren't there -- I apologize, because I am not finding it myself because of my own lack of reference.


Do you recall, sir, during the technical conference -- and I will find the reference in a moment -- that you had said, Mr. Isherwood, that Enbridge has contracted for this path specifically when you were referring to the path between Niagara and the Enbridge takeoff flowing through the domestic line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah.  In discussions with Enbridge, my understanding is they specifically chose this path so they would diversify gas coming into the GTA.  The majority of the gas will be flowing from Dawn on our system to the GTA, and they wanted to have a diversified path.  So they specifically contracted with TCPL to -- it actually allows them to go forward with their Golden Horseshoe project and use domestic line to bring gas in, in a slightly different way.


MR. QUINN:  And they specified the path by saying they contracted for Niagara to the Enbridge CDA; is that what you mean?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have not seen their contract, Mr. Quinn, so I don't know how -- I know they were very concerned about specifically getting gas in that path, but I am not sure how they contracted for it.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And that's helpful.  I understand.


But, I guess, to our previous conversation, Enbridge cannot dictate to TransCanada that the gas flows between Niagara and its takeoff between the domestic line.  Is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know how they contracted, so I don't know.  I do know the settlement agreement is specifically identified in there as well as flowing in the domestic line.


MR. QUINN:  I guess we just talked about TransCanada being a prudent pipeline like Union, and it has to get the gas from Niagara to Enbridge.  As the operator of the system, it could choose which path -- which pipeline the molecules flow through to get to the Enbridge takeoff.  Is that not correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the example of Enbridge and the 200 a day is unique.  I can say that TCPL has not contracted on us for an increment of 200.  I do know, in the settlement agreement, it was discussed at length it would flow on that one path.  I do agree that normally pipelines don't limit the contract to a path, but I do know Enbridge had a unique driver, if you want, to try and diversify flows into their CDA.


MR. QUINN:  And diversification is something utilities do as a regular practice?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  They contract to be able to achieve that diversity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They do.


MR. QUINN:  And yet, when they go to the pipeline operator, they cannot dictate the physical flow of gas.  Is that not correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  This the may be an exception.  I would agree that, normally, that is true.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Do you have any evidence to demonstrate that that's a fact?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no evidence to discuss either way.  I don't have their contract, but I do know they were very specific in getting that gas going in that path.


MR. QUINN:  So you don't have any evidence.  What I would like to do is walk through TransCanada's application to the National Energy Board, and that is found in our compendium starting at page 8, the technical description from the Greater Golden Horseshoe project.


You have that reference, do you, sir?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do.


MR. QUINN:  So this is -- for the Board's knowledge, this is TransCanada's Greater Golden Horseshoe application to the National Energy Board to get approval to provide the gas services in Southwestern Ontario, predominantly in the Greater Golden Horseshoe area.


So you would be familiar with this application?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  At a very high level; we didn't spend a lot of time looking at it.


MR. QUINN:  And in the method -- sorry, I will back up here.  In the technical description, which is under the Parkway belt meter station modifications, in the method used for regulating stations in the third paragraph, it says

"The station currently connects with two pipelines, Union Gas and Enbridge Gas, at a common high pressure."


Do you see that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I just take a moment?  This is two pages out of an application.  I am not sure that I am clear as to what the nature of the page is relative to the remainder of the application or, you know, what it actually is and has been submitted by TransCanada in respect of.  So I am a bit cautious with respect to just isolating one aspect of this two-page document, which is part of a much larger document.


I guess I am asking my friend as to what is the document, what was it filed for, and what purpose was it filed for, and what part did it actually -- you know, so we can have an understanding as to the relevance of his questions with respect to what Enbridge is doing and why.


MR. QUINN:  I will respond, I guess, in reverse chronological.


We are requesting how Enbridge was going to receive gas from TransCanada.  This is TransCanada's Section 58 application, which we had asked to put on the record at the technical conference.  We are putting just a section of it on the record because it is dozens and dozens of pages.  But this refers specifically to the station description, and this is Enbridge takeoff, which is shown, if you refer back to OGVG 1, and we will show it on a later map in the schematics.


This is TransCanada's description of what they are doing at the Enbridge takeoff, which goes to how Enbridge can receive gas at that takeoff.  So it is from Attachment 1 to the technical conference, page 11 of 13, to be specific, the terms of that reference for Union Gas.


I trust that's helpful. If there is more clarification, please --


MR. KEIZER:  I just don't understand what the relevance of Enbridge's takeoff to TransCanada has to do with the Burlington -- or the Oakville-Burlington pipeline in south Milton and Oakville.


MR. QUINN:  And I guess we have just gone through a discussion with the witness panel talking about whether a pipeline operator has its path dictated by its customers in getting gas from point A to point B.


What we are bringing forth from this document is that TransCanada is providing a takeoff from -- to Enbridge that allows gas to flow from the south and from the north.  That is specifically part of their application, and we would be happy to file the entire application with this Board, and it could be seen more holistically, but that was the nature of it, but we didn't feel it appropriate to walk through TransCanada's entire Section 58 application.  The most important point was how Enbridge was to receive gas from TransCanada and how they physically designed the system to allow that.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, this is my last comment.  I would just assume that it would be only -- be what would be relevant is how TransCanada delivers gas to Union, not how TransCanada delivers gas to Enbridge.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Quinn, is your question with respect to Mr. Isherwood raising the issue of Enbridge and saying that he is not familiar with the contract?  Are you are trying to take him to the salient part of this application and have him either confirm or deny -- not deny, but confirm or say he simply doesn't know the extent of the contract?  Is that where you are going with this?


MR. QUINN:  Member Long, I think that's helpful.    Mr. Isherwood has said that he understands that, somehow, Enbridge has dictated the path, and this would be an exception to how a pipeline operates.


What this document demonstrates is that TransCanada has specifically designed the takeoff to be able to receive gas either from the south on the domestic line or from the north, from Parkway.  And to me, if they only wanted gas from the south and only were going to get gas from the south, because they dictated that path, TransCanada would not have put a provision in to accept gas from the north.  And this document separates out that distinction that allows gas from the north and to the south.


And I apologize.  In trying to be efficient, I possibly should have filed the entire application, which does speak to TransCanada's intent.


MS. LONG:  Thank you for the clarification.


MR. QUINN:  So I am possibly guided by Member Long's higher-level question.


Mr. Isherwood, you say you have no evidence that Enbridge can dictate the path.  That's what I heard you say earlier.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, from a contractual point of view, I have never seen the contract and likely never will see the contract.  It's the -- would be confidential between the two parties.


MR. QUINN:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But the application and the facility work that TCPL is doing at Parkway is to tie in the domestic line directly into the Enbridge system, and that is what this application -- this page is mostly about.


MR. QUINN:  And you understand that it also continues to be tied in from the north on the TransCanada system; correct?


MR. REDFORD:  I would agree.  Also, within the Greater Golden Horseshoe facilities project application, TransCanada talks about the Parkway to Burlington line, and effectively say it will now operate at 4,480 KPA.  It's not that they are derating their pipe, necessarily, but that it will operate at a lower pressure instead of the 935 pounds.


They also state that, instead of flow going north to south, the expectation going forward is that the flow will come south to north.  So, in other words, it will be a low-pressure gas coming in from off the domestic line in the Hamilton area and flowing up to Parkway.


Now, can they also feed from the north?  They are installing a block valve that would separate the Parkway to Maple, and on this map, if you draw a diagonal line up to the left from Parkway that hits Maple on TransCanada's system, that will continue to operate at 935 pounds, but they are providing a delineation of those two systems.


MR. QUINN:  The delineation is a code requirement in terms of having the block valve separate the two lines of pressure, Mr. Redford?


MR. REDFORD:  I think that is the way they have chosen to operate their system.


MR. QUINN:  But it's a code requirement that that block valve must be in that station?


MR. REDFORD:  If they are calling the Parkway to Burlington system a 4,480 KPA system, then they'd need to put a block valve in there.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to have some clarity, when we talk about Parkway, there are two pressures in the Parkway yard.  There is the pressure going into the compressors, which we would call the suction pressure.  It is quite a bit lower than the pressure we discharge into TransCanada at.  We have very large contracts today with Enbridge that goes from Union directly to Enbridge at Parkway at the suction pressure, so it's at much lower pressure, and then we also have very large contracts going into the TransCanada system, but it's at the discharge of compression, so it goes through a compressor to get into the higher pressure.


This domestic line will be tying into the same system that we tie into Enbridge at on the suction side or the low pressure of Parkway.  So to Mr. Redford's point, the domestic line is being derated, if you want, or lowered to a pressure that better aligns with the suction side of Parkway.


So, as another example, where physically you can see changes happening at Parkway that facilitate connecting this lower pressure, suction pressure, almost, line into the Enbridge system, so I haven't seen the contract, but the physical side is definitely being worked on as we speak today for November 1 in-service.


MR. QUINN:  And from a system reliability point of view, Mr. Isherwood, very specifically, they have kept the ability to feed from the north or feed from the south; is that not correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is essentially an emergency feed, as I understand it.  It is there in case of emergency, but the normal day-to-day flow would be on the domestic line for the 200.


MR. QUINN:  So is there a specific reference in the mainline settlement agreement that dictates the provision that Enbridge must get its gas from the domestic line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would have to go back and review it, Mr. Quinn, but I think --


MR. QUINN:  Would you undertake to provide that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't think I need to.  Physically, it is being set up to do that.  TransCanada is spending money; Enbridge is spending money.  We've been involved, discussing Parkway overall with those two companies as well to make sure there's no negative impacts, but --


--- Reporter appeals.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Slow down?  Sure.  Sorry.


There are physical changes happening at the Parkway site that makes -- allows this to all happen, and it was certainly a major part of discussion.


MR. QUINN:  And as you said at the outset, Mr. Redford walked us through, the physical flow is complex because of the parallel pipelines of Union Gas and TransCanada in that area.  I am asking -- you said you didn't have any evidence of it.  I asked if there was a provision in the mainline settlement agreement.  You said you would have to go back and review it.  I am offering you the opportunity, or would you take it subject to check that there is no such provision?


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the agreement is filed, as I recall --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is filed, yes.


MR. KEIZER:  -- in this proceeding, so to the extent that --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, not in this proceeding.


MR. KEIZER:  Not in this proceeding?  Sorry, I thought it was.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So would you take it subject to check there is not, or would you like to undertake to provide it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would want to look at it.


MR. QUINN:  So you will take an undertaking?


MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J1.1.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO CONFIRM whether THERE WAS A PROVISION IN THE MAINLINE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT dictatING Enbridge gets its gas from the domestic line


MR. QUINN:  And if I could ask you, then, to turn up Exhibit A, tab 4, Attachment 1, page 3 of 9, Figure 2, which depicts the Dawn to Parkway system, which is found on page 11 in my compendium.


So just at a high level, would you agree with me Union designs this system to transport gas from Dawn to Parkway for a -- from a peak system design operation point of view; is that correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Union designs this system to meet the -- both in-franchise and ex-franchise requirements of its customers.


MR. QUINN:  But the design goes from the higher pressure at Dawn to push gas to the lower pressure at Parkway at a very high level; is that correct?


MR. WALLACE:  There are multiple constraints.  One of the constraints is the delivery to Parkway.


MR. QUINN:  So you have contracts with customers, I think Mr. Isherwood was referring to before, to get gas to Parkway and deliver it to them on a peak day on a firm basis?


MR. WALLACE:  We do have those types of contracts, yes.


MR. QUINN:  And Union designs this system based upon peak winter demand with also consideration for loss of critical units?


MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.


MR. QUINN:  So average day demands and summer day demands do not dictate the design of the Dawn Parkway system; would that be correct also?


MR. WALLACE:  They are not the controlling conditions that would dictate the design at this point in time.


MR. QUINN:  So to optimize the size of the pipeline, you would be more concerned about your peak winter demands, not your average day or your average summer day demands?


MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, peak winter is our design condition that we design to at this point in time.


MR. QUINN:  And so not -- not summer, not average day.  Those are not the design conditions you would look at for your design?


MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Let's say, to serve the Burlington-Oakville market, you decide to buy 100 TJs of firm natural gas at Parkway instead of Dawn.  The designed volume on the Dawn Parkway system would, therefore, then, for winter operations, be reduced by 100 TJs; is that correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Yes, that's correct.  If there was 100 TJs landing at Parkway, that 100 TJs does not need to be transported on the Dawn Parkway system.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Wallace.


So just, again, referring back to the map -- and I am sure you know it a lot better than I, Mr. Wallace, the map, being OGVG 1, to be specific, the coloured map that was distributed earlier.  On the top right-hand side, you see Parkway and Bronte gate?


MR. WALLACE:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  So between these two points, there are three lines; an existing Union line, an existing TCPL line, and the pipeline proposed in this application; correct?


MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  The physical and commercial alternative you considered all assumed gas would flow from Parkway to Bronte Gate; correct?


MR. WALLACE:  The physical alternative that we provided in evidence considered the gas would flow from Parkway to Bronte.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So you served the demands of Oakville, Burlington, and, as I understand from your evidence, the south of Milton using that gas; correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Using that gas and the gas that we would flow down the 8-inch Milton line as well, which we haven't discussed.


MR. QUINN:  So gas going from, notionally, north to south; is that correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Yes, sorry, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you have FT contracts on TransCanada.  Now, this is as of updated this morning, and I might stand corrected here, but you currently have FT contracts on TCPL totalling 68 TJs Dawn to CDA and 16 TJs Dawn Parkway to CDA; correct?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  The TCPL FT contracts are delivered to Union at two stations, the Burlington Gate and the Bronte Gate; is that correct?


MR. REDFORD:  They can be delivered at either one of those or both.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Redford.  And those stations, the Burlington Gate and Bronte Gate, both have a TCPL meter at their station, so the volume is measured there?


MR. REDFORD:  They do.  That is the interconnect between TransCanada's system and Union's 20-inch Oakville to Burlington line.


MR. QUINN:  And possibly, just orienting back to the map, I think what you are referring to, Mr. Redford, and I think it's important, is that there is gas that flows through TransCanada's system and flows out of the Burlington, Bronte stations and feeds the highlighted yellow area on this map; is that correct?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  Probably more specifically through the -- today, through the green pipelines that show up within the yellow shaded area.


MR. QUINN:  Right, thank you.  And then, to be clear and make sure I understood that correctly, that's the physical gas to the customers going through your distribution system as depicted by those green lines?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if we follow the red line marked "TCPL domestic line" from the bottom right-hand side, which would be coming from Niagara through to Hamilton Gate 3, up to Burlington-Bronte Gate, would you agree that TransCanada has to use the domestic line to deliver to Union's Burlington Gate and Bronte Gate stations?


MR. REDFORD:  So, for the contracts that we have with TransCanada, they would have to use the Burlington Gate station and Bronte Gate station.  They are the only connections we have into the Burlington-Oakville system.


I would say today, typically, that flow comes from Parkway down into the Burlington-Oakville system.  Going forward, that's going to be up to TransCanada to figure out how they operate their system.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, to be clear, though, that flow you've just described, though, does go through the domestic line to feed Burlington Gate and Bronte Gate?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  From Parkway, correct.


MR. QUINN:  From Parkway, and, as you said, TransCanada will decide in the future how that works?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So if you can turn up Exhibit D FRPO 11, that will be found on page 16 of our compendium to cross-reference it.


Now it may be helpful to also have available to you the pages that I provided subsequently, which were from Attachment 5 of the evidence of Ms. Cheung, that provide the actual flow schematics from TransCanada in the Greater Golden Horseshoe application.

Because the header was on the end at the side of the page, we still have those.  So if you could have those handy as we walk through this?


So, specifically, I am going to address questions in FRPO 11, but I want to make sure that we have an understanding.  FRPO 11 asked to confirm that the -- from the system schematics in the Greater Golden Horseshoe area, show the flows which are in that interrogatory request, and Union had confirmed those.


We asked, further, is Union aware MLV 209 is located near Ancaster, and MLV 207 is located near Burlington, which you have also confirmed.


Then we further asked is Union aware the direction in flow between MLV 207 and 209 represents deliveries from TransCanada to the Union ECDA, and we asked for further confirmation from TransCanada.


Union's response was:

"Union cannot confirm the difference in flow between MLV 209 and 207."


As reading down into the interrogatory response.  And I want to spend a few minutes looking at that from a system schematic point of view and get a better understanding.


So you would agree that MLV 209, which can be best looked at on page 20 of our compendium, but it is in the Attachment 5 system schematics and in the Greater Golden Horseshoe Section 58 application, Attachment 2, page 1 of 2.  Do you have that?


I am going to give you a moment because I know I have got three references going at the same time, and I want to make sure this is clear.


MR. REDFORD:  I have that.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So you would agree that -- cross-referencing the system schematics in Attachment 2 to the OGVG 1, you would agree that the MLV 209 is near Hamilton Gate 3?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  Physically they’re -- I think they are very close.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And, similarly, would you agree that MLV 207 is near the Burlington Gate?


MR. REDFORD:  Yeah.  If that isn't the Burlington Gate station, yeah.


MR. QUINN:  I believe so also, sir.  I just wanted to make sure we had proximity for the point of these questions.


In response to FRPO 11 C, you said you cannot confirm the difference of 87 TJs -- a difference of 87 TJs represent deliveries from TransCanada to Union's Burlington Gate or Bronte Gate stations.

And you said, and I quote:

"Union notes that its transportation capacity on TransCanada to the Union CDA originates from Dawn to Parkway, which does not flow through MLV 209 to the Burlington Gate station and the Bronte gate station delivery points.  Supply to Burlington Gate and Bronte Gate delivery points from Parkway and Dawn has historically flowed from Parkway towards these delivery points."


That was your response?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  I think, if you look back at the discussion we just had around the Greater Golden Horseshoe facility project, TransCanada is planning to reverse that domestic line basically from Parkway flow to Burlington to Niagara or Ancaster flow, if you will, towards Burlington.


So our expectation is that, normally, TransCanada would operate that system from Parkway going south and, as Mr. Isherwood discussed, I mean, ultimately, on each and every day, TransCanada can choose how they operate their system.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


And so if we look at the specific schematic, this schematic shows TransCanada's domestic line capacity at MLV 209, which is near Hamilton Gate, is 287 TJs, which is the equivalent of 7,615 103 M3.  Would you take that number subject to check?


MR. REDFORD:  In Figure 3-2, the flow schematic with proposed facilities?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, I would agree the 7,615 103 M3 is about 287 TJs.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  From the domestic line, then TransCanada delivers 87 TJs to Union at MLV 207, which is near Burlington, and then plans to transport 200 TJs to Enbridge at Parkway's takeoff that we have discussed earlier; is that correct?


MR. REDFORD:  200 TJs would go through the -- 200 TJs would go through the regulator at Burlington and would, for me, seemingly would continue on towards Parkway.


MR. QUINN:  The 200 TJs would carry on from MLV 207 toward Enbridge; is that correct?  Is that what you said?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that would allow for 87 TJs to remain at Burlington Gate; is that correct?


MR. REDFORD:  Well, not necessarily.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Said differently, then, there would be capacity available for an additional 87 above the 200 at MLV 207?


MR. REDFORD:  Yeah.  Mr. Wallace and I were talking.  We know it's able to enter Ancaster at 287 TJs, but whether they can deliver that 287 TJs at Burlington and meet minimum contract design delivery pressure is, I think, questionable.  And TransCanada has even said 200 would flow through Burlington.


MR. QUINN:  Well, where have they said that, sorry?  We have 200.  It's on the schematic.  Let's stay with the evidence in front of us.  You are saying 200 -- it has a capacity to flow 200 from Burlington Gate on to Enbridge.  Is that what you said a few moments ago?  Is that correct?


MR. KEIZER:  This may be of assistance to the Board.  I am not sure.  There is a bit of a technical realm, and maybe -- and it's not exactly my realm, but it may be of assistance.  It was filed on the record in this proceeding correspondence which were a series of questions that was posed to TransCanada by Union, and then TransCanada affirmed the accuracy of those factual responses, and I am not sure whether that will be of assistance with respect to the 200 TJs that we seem to be discussing here.


MR. QUINN:  I have that later in my compendium, that same reference that Mr. Keizer is pointing out, but that is not specifically questions I am asking here.  I am asking about the flow capability of TransCanada in the Greater Golden Horseshoe project as a result of the work that they are undertaking and have applied for and have subsequently had approved by the National Energy Board.


So Union has stated that their understanding is that Enbridge will have gas flowing from the domestic line of 200 TJs.  What we are pointing out is the capability as applied for by TransCanada is 87 TJs in excess of 200 TJs, and that capacity does flow through to Burlington Gate, which is MLV 207.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Maybe I can just interject, but I think the reference Mr. Redford was looking for was really page 43 of your compendium, and it's a letter that TCPL answered the four questions that you had submitted.  So TCPL answered those four questions filed on June the 19th, and the very first response, first line, was:

"The settlement agreement recognized that 200 TJs per day of transportation capacity would be offered to the market on the path from Niagara to Enbridge Parkway CDA."


So we know that Enbridge was the successful bidder for the entire 200.


MR. QUINN:  That is what the letter said, sir, and we will come to that letter, but I am asking about what TransCanada applied to the National Energy Board for and the physical capacity of the line.  So having said that, I guess I re-ask my question.


Since 287 TJs of capacity are available between MLV 209 and 207, and 200 must get to Enbridge as a result of the contract that has now been undertaken, that would result in 87 TJs of capability on that line; is that not correct?


MR. REDFORD:  Again, TransCanada has shown 287 through the regulator.  They show 200 at Burlington.  You would have to do a -- you would have to do some analysis to look at minimum contract delivery pressures to see if 287 could even flow on that path and meet the minimum contract delivery pressures at Parkway for Enbridge and at Burlington for Union, and our first blush is that they will not.


MR. QUINN:  What is your minimum contract delivery pressure at Burlington?


MR. REDFORD:  It's 4,000 KPA.


MR. QUINN:  Do you see the MLV 207, the box?  And I apologize for the small print.  It's part of the application.  Do you see the 4,074 KPA inlet pressure?


MR. REDFORD:  I do.  I have no idea, though, where that 87 is being dropped off along the way.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Quinn, isn't it as simple as that compendium?  TCPL has said they could only flow 200.  If they could flow 287, they would offer 287 to the market.


MR. QUINN:  I don't think it's that simple, sir.  I'm going to ask, because Mr. Redford says they don't know where it's been dropped off, do you have any direct purchase customers for which you deliver to between MLV 209 and 207 that TransCanada feeds through your meters to your direct purchase customers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The other thing I would point out is the schematics are all -- it's in the bottom right-hand corner -- are all summer design schematics.  I have not seen a winter design, so perhaps it's a winter constraint.  I don't know.  But I do know TCPL has been very explicit that they can only offer 200 to the market.


MR. QUINN:  So do you have direct purchase customers flowing off that line from TransCanada through your meter to your direct purchase customer?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have direct purchase customers throughout our franchise.


MR. QUINN:  Do you have any on that line that take feed from the domestic line between Hamilton Gate 3 and Burlington Gate?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our direct purchase customers deliver at Parkway or Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  So you do not have any takeoffs on that line between -- does Union own any takeoffs, physical takeoffs, on that line between Hamilton Gate 3 and Burlington Gate?


MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, I don't think we have any takeoffs.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is what I was trying to get to.


If there is some uncertainty in terms of what TransCanada can and can't do as a result of these approved facilities that the construction is under -- do you understand, Mr. Redford, the construction for these projects is underway?


MR. REDFORD:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So at the completion of that construction, would Union request, by way of undertaking, to TransCanada the amount of capacity that would be available on peak winter between MLV 209 and 207?


MR. REDFORD:  They have already -- between 209 and 207, they have already -- TransCanada has already stated that they could only move 200 TJs a day through to Parkway on behalf of Enbridge.


MR. QUINN:  The specific words Mr. Isherwood read, which we will come to later, is "would be offered to the market."  I am asking about the physical capability.  Would you undertake to --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  What the settlement agreement also says is anything above 200 would flow to Kirkwall, then into Parkway and Union's system.  So there is lots of evidence that suggests they can only do 200 a day,  
MR. Quinn.


MR. QUINN:  There is -- I am asking for the physical capability.  These maps -- these schematics provide 87 TJs in excess of 200.  To save the Board time, I would think that it would be appropriate for Union to undertake to ask TransCanada, a fellow pipeline operator, about their physical capacity on that line.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The capacity is 200.  They have been clear.  It's in the settlement.  It is in the letter they sent back to us.


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, sir, but you had said that it would be offered to the market.  That doesn't say what the physical capability is, and I have to distinguish those terms because it is relevant to capability of the TransCanada system potentially over and above what was contemplated in a mainline settlement agreement.  We are talking about physical capacity that may yet be available and is demonstrated in this map -- in the schematic, excuse me.


MR. KEIZER:  I think what Mr. Quinn is raising is a point of argument as to the nuance that he is putting on to what is available in the market and what is not.  The witness has answered the question, their understanding that the capacity available from TransCanada is 200 per day.


MS. LONG:  Is that the evidence?  That it's capacity as opposed to flow?  You are answering the question --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  TCPL is limiting market flow to 200 a day.  I am assuming it is for physical reasons.


MS. LONG:  So you are assuming that flow is the same as capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I think, I think -- the way I think of it is that, if TCPL had that capacity of 287, or whatever the number was, available every day, then it would be available to the market.  If it's constrained in some seasons or on some days, then they wouldn't be able to offer it to the market, but it may be available on a summer day or off-peak day.  But I am assuming it is not available on a peak day because they limit it to 200 to the market.


DR. ELSAYED:  So you are equating what's available to the market to the physical capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of being available on every day of the year.


DR. ELSAYED:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In our system, we have capacity sometimes above our market.  But not on peak design day, we don't, so we always sell out to the peak design day is our experience.


MR. QUINN:  I would like to come back to the request for an undertaking.  I am going to come at it a different way for, hopefully, understanding and then potentially re-ask the question.


At the outset, Union provided updated information that we had not been privy to that you had achieved an additional contract from TransCanada from Parkway to the CDA starting November 2015; is that correct, Mr. Shorts?


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And through the course of the evidence -- and we are not going to go through all the evidence -- Union had said that Union could not get deliveries from TransCanada because of physical limitations historically on the TransCanada system; correct?


MR. SHORTS:  We had said that, over the last few winters, we had to rely on secondary market because, when we went into existing capacity open seasons, that capacity was not available.


What we said at the technical conference was our expectation is that TransCanada could provide it, and because we were able to get this contract, they have followed through on that.  And, therefore, we have this contract for one year starting this November.


MR. QUINN:  And so you have -- TransCanada has now provided -- has the ability to provide you additional capacity that they couldn't a few years ago?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They couldn't -- and they couldn't provide even last year.


MR. QUINN:  Even last year, yes.  So the mainline settlement agreement was finalized by the utilities and TransCanada on October 31, 2013; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Approved by the end -- being December of 2014.


MR. QUINN:  December of 2014.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  But that agreement was agreed to October 2013?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So some things have changed since that agreement, and, in this case, we have TransCanada demonstrating that it has additional capacity beyond what it had historically.  And so we are asking the question about the physical capability as a result of finalized engineering construction – sorry, engineering design and construction that will be undertaken in this application.


So what was said in the mainline settlement agreement two years ago may or may not be what is a fact today.  Would you accept that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would -- I don't know what has changed from the settlement that would change the capacity.


MR. QUINN:  And that is why, sir, we are asking you to undertake to provide it, because you don't have certainty, and you have called into question some of our interpretation, and I thought that the party that could provide the physical capability is TransCanada.  And we would be asking for you to undertake to provide the physical capacity between MLV 209 and 207 by way of undertaking to -- for Union to request of TransCanada and put on the record.


MR. KEIZER:  I think it's already on the record that  -- and, again, turning to the answer to the questions that were affirmed by TransCanada that the capacity isn't available, but that TransCanada could provide service by other means.  But in any event, based on the evidence, the pipeline still remains to be the most economic option.  So I am not quite sure why my friend continues to insist on the question with respect to two aspects on a flowchart that demonstrates a summer peak, not a winter peak, and Union can't buy for a summer basis; it has to buy on a design basis.  So it's not clear to me what the relevance of this question about the 87 in a summer period has to do with the Burlington-Oakville line and the requirements that Union has and the evidence that's currently on the record.


MR. QUINN:  If I may, because Union has focused on the aspect of summer demand, the demand on the pipeline is different from the physical capacity of a pipeline.  So you could have a demand in the summer of 1 and a demand in the winter of 100.  The pipeline has a capacity, and that capacity is the same in the summer as it is in the winter.  Because it says summer on here doesn't mean that it's constrained by their flows.


So because this is in -- I am just trying to stay away from a debate.  I am trying to get the fact of the case on the record.  We have a difference of opinion as to what this means, and TransCanada can provide a specific answer that's crucial to some of what Ms. Cheung has offered in terms of alternatives to provide Burlington-Oakville with the gas it needs in the summer and, yes, in the winter.


MR. KEIZER:  My understanding that the alternative that Ms. Cheung provided was with respect to the Kirkwall delivery, not with respect to the domestic line, but maybe I am incorrect on that.  But I believe that this is revisiting a different alternative.


MR. QUINN:  It's visiting an alternative that -- excuse me, sir, I want to speak to the Panel -- of our underlying premise in this entire proceeding is that Union would evaluate the economical alternatives to provide service to this community.


In our view, FRPO's view, this is an economic alternative that ought to be assessed as the economics, which hopefully we will be able to demonstrate later, may be favourable to use existing infrastructure, which is clearly a preference by utilities just to use existing infrastructure as opposed to building new.  And this difference, I think, is material to our ability to demonstrate that there are other economically viable alternatives.


We are unfortunately hampered by TransCanada's lack of presence in this proceeding such that we can't ask them that question directly.  But it doesn't inhibit the applicant from ensuring that all questions and all alternatives have been considered.


DR. ELSAYED:  Is Union's concern that the question is irrelevant or that it has already been answered?


MR. KEIZER:  Well, Union's view is the question has been answered, based upon the information that's already been filed on the record with respect to the ability to provide service.  And I think the witnesses have answered the question as to their understanding as to the capacity that's available.


DR. ELSAYED:  I just go back to my earlier question for my own understanding:  Just to confirm, is the ability to provide service, is that the same as the physical capacity of a pipe?  Is it the same number?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the way I look at it is the pipe may have higher capacity during off seasons or certain operating conditions.  But they would market or sell the capacity they have available every day of the year on a long-term basis, or they would sell it short term if they had a short-term blip in their capacity.  But, typically, when they say there is 200 available in the market, they are contained somewhere in their system at some point in the year to limit it to 200.


DR. ELSAYED:  So, Mr. Quinn, where do you see the relevance, then, based on that description of the physical capacity of the pipe?


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Isherwood has characterized -- and I believe correctly -- flows and capacities.  And that question has not been answered by TransCanada.  It's clear TransCanada has additional capacity which it just sold to Union August 28th, if I have the date correct, that it didn't have previously once it undertook facilities.


In the engineering field, they call pipelines lumpy; you can't build half a pipeline.  Once you build it, then you determine how much capacity it has.


What Union is expressing is that TransCanada endeavoured to provide a market service in the order of 200 TJs, which Enbridge entered contractual commitments to some time ago.  We are saying what is the remaining capacity after the engineering has been done, and we believe the schematics demonstrate there is a capability.


We don't have TransCanada here to verify that, and we would ask Union to provide that, because they work with TransCanada on a regular basis.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I can maybe add:  Just before the technical conference and because of the interrogatories we got, I did reach out to TransCanada and ask if they could provide the capacity that we were getting for the secondary market, and they confirmed that they could.


So reading the transcript from the technical conference, I was asked the question, "Did you talk to TCPL?" and I said I had, and I could confirm they thought they could provide the capacity.


And when I asked them what had changed, it was at Parkway, not on the domestic line.  As you know, Union Gas is building the Parkway West station.  We are tying into TCPL and Enbridge at the Parkway West station, and their view was the changes happening at Parkway West gave them incremental capacity -- or capacity we were looking for, at least -- to go from Parkway down into the domestic line on the existing -- existing pipe that's already in the ground.  So it's not coming from Niagara; it's coming from Parkway.


MR. QUINN:  And it is coming from Parkway, as Mr. Shorts testified to, and I wonder -- and I will leave this maybe for consideration.


I'm going to carry on in the cross-examination and come back to it, but a simple way -- and maybe I will ask the question first.  Maybe Union would prefer to undertake it this way:  Could Union go back to TransCanada, similar as it did from Parkway CDA, and say, "What capacity would be available from Niagara to Burlington Gate in the winter?"


MR. KEIZER:  But my submission is that has been answered.  Like, that is in the TransCanada affirmation that no further capacity is available on this path from TransCanada using the domestic line without facility expansion, and TransCanada said that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  I am going to carry on, sir, and as I said I would, and then I will come back to, hopefully, a question about physical capacity that I think is very pertinent to our case, but in the interests of time and hopefully developing a better premise for that, I will move forward.


DR. ELSAYED:  Just maybe if you can look for an appropriate point to take a break.  We are approaching that time, so I will leave it up to you to say the...


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And, sir, I want to be in your hands in terms of -- I saw 11:25, but we can -- if you had a different time in mind, please help me with that.


DR. ELSAYED:  I just took the time that we had between 9:30 and lunch and took the half-point mark at about eleven o'clock, I guess, is --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will look for a convenient break coming up, sir.


DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, so just let me know.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Thank you.  I appreciate that, and I will be aware of that.


Okay.  Again, with OGVG 1 in front of you, on a design day, to serve Burlington-Oakville demand, you would assume 54 TJs would come from the Dawn Parkway system through the 12-inch and 8-inch; is that correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  All else being equal, the TransCanada delivers an extra 54 TJs to you at Burlington Gate and Bronte Gate.  Could you reduce the amount from the Dawn Parkway system through the existing 12-inch and 8-inch to zero?


MR. WALLACE:  From a market balance perspective, I don't see why not.  I am not sure why you would do that.  It would sort of diminish the capacity on the existing 8-inch back upwards there toward Milton.


MR. REDFORD:  I would agree.  I am not sure why you would pay for a service when you have got assets in the ground serving a market already.


MR. QUINN:  I understand the commercial implications, and I am just making sure we, again, look at the physical capability, so --


MR. REDFORD:  Well, it's a clear -- it's a distinction that needs to be drawn, though.  We just finished talking about whether TransCanada has ability to get into the Union ECDA market and the cost to do that, whether TransCanada has capability or whether they have to go up to Kirkwall, over to Parkway, and down, the rate stays the same on TransCanada, which we have evaluated in our evidence, and the answer -- our analysis, the results come back that the proposed pipeline is more economic.


So I get your point around what TransCanada may or may not be able to do, but you need to draw a clear distinction between what physically can happen and what commercially -- what can happen in the economic evaluation.


MR. QUINN:  And we were trying to do that earlier, sir, but I will move forward, so I'm going to just ask the question again, because we -- I thought I'd got an affirmation, but all else being equal, if TransCanada delivers an extra 54 TJs to your Burlington Gate and Bronte Gate, you can reduce the amount of gas from Dawn to Parkway system through the existing 12-inch and 8-inch lines to zero; is that correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Yes, I don't see why not.  You could feed a Burlington-Oakville market through Bronte and Burlington Gate if you so chose.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So would it be fair to say that, for design purposes, Union requires pipeline facilities to serve Burlington-Oakville demand if gas comes from the Dawn Parkway system, and Union does not require pipeline facilities if the gas comes from the TransCanada system?


MR. WALLACE:  That is fair, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But I should point out, to replace that gas, it would still have to flow on a Dawn to Parkway system to Parkway, so whether we take it off at the 8-inch and the 12-inch or take it off at Parkway, we are still using the Dawn to Parkway system.


MR. QUINN:  That wasn't what I said, sir.  I said "if TransCanada provided it."  We didn't say which path.  I know that you -- that is what you have added, but we asked if during the summer months or whenever it is -- I am saying that if they feed -- if TransCanada feeds Burlington-Bronte, you could reduce the flows on the 8-inch and 12-inch lines from the Dawn Parkway system, and Mr. Wallace already confirmed that; correct?


MR. WALLACE:  So assuming the gas is arriving at Bronte and Burlington, you could feed the Burlington-Oakville market with that gas.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


In the application, if you would turn up Exhibit A, tab 3, pages 2 of 5, lines 16 to 20.  And I will let you turn it up.  It would be  --


MR. REDFORD:  Could you quickly repeat the reference, Mr. Quinn, sorry?


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I was looking over to see if Mr. Gagné got it.  But it's at Exhibit A, tab 3, page 2 of 5, lines 16 to 20.  And it states:

"Union proposes to meet the growth and address the security (sic) supply needs of Burlington-Oakville system by constructing new pipeline facilities from Dawn to Parkway to the existing NPS 20 Burlington to a pro-pipeline (sic) at Bronte Gate Station for November 1, 2016 in-service.  The proposed pipeline provides reliable secure supply over the long term at a lower cost than contracting for transportation services if they were available."


When you say "secure supply," when you are talking about supply, I want to differentiate.  Are you talking about gas supply?


MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, Union Gas has an obligation to provide reliable and secure supplies to its customers.  When we rely on a third party instead of facilitating a distribution reinforcement project, what we do is we have to rely on a third party.  That third party does not have the same obligations that Union does.  They have an obligation to a different driver.  They tend to want to maximize revenue.  They don't necessarily have that obligation to deliver like we do.


When we rely on a third party, we also have to -- we don't know if that capacity is going to be available over a long period of time, and we don't know what the rate is going to be.  
So when you end up relying on a third party or a gas supply portfolio decision rather than an infrastructure reinforcement project like this, you are giving up control to another party and, therefore, reducing your flexibility.


MR. QUINN:  I struggle with the answer to -- when I asked, when you mean -- when you say "security (sic) supply," do you mean security of gas supply or do you mean something else in that context of that evidentiary reference?


MR. SHORTS:  The experience we have had was relying on the third-party secondary market during the time in which TransCanada said they did not have that capacity available.  The profit maximization or revenue maximization was seen as that cost went up year over year to being almost $9-million last winter.


So from a delivery perspective, we have to ensure that we provide our customers with secure and reliable gas supply at a prudently incurred cost, and, therefore, when we rely on a third party, we tend to not have full control of that.  It's definitely running counter to what we have done through our Parkway delivery obligation.


Or again, we used to look at facilitating and supporting the system through having supply show up at Parkway.  Customers did not want that.  They wanted to come back to Dawn, so we, therefore, have moved that and starting to move that delivery obligation to Dawn so as not to have to rely on those supplies and, there again, third parties to provide security and reliability on a system that we have an obligation to provide.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I can just maybe add to that, I guess -- and this is all describing the project at a high level, but by building our own pipeline to serve the market, we are no longer dependent upon TransCanada or the secondary market, so in future, if TransCanada, for some reason, doesn't have the capacity, we are not forcing them to look at a secondary market, which, as Mr. Shorts pointed out, became very expensive over the three years we had to do that.


By building the pipeline in 2016, we actually lock in the cost to serve those customers in 2016 dollars and is economic in 2016, and it becomes more economic as time goes on for two reasons.  One is the volumes go up, so more volumes means the cost of operating that line goes down for unit.  As well, it gets depreciated over time, so rather than being exposed to a third party where costs may go up, may have locked-in costs that actually we know for sure go down, so it is -- the primary driver for this project is it's economic in the first year, and it's economic over the life of the project.


MR. QUINN:  And I think we will test that later on, sir.  I asked a question before, and I seem -- it seems that we have lost context.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The context is security, so that is the point of security.


MR. QUINN:  I have a question that will hopefully clarify this, but I think we might want to take that after the break, if that would be helpful.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will break for 15 minutes and resume at 11:20, according to the clock here.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:20 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, please be seated.


The Panel thinks that the question that Mr. Quinn raised about the maximum capacity is a relevant one, and we would ask that you take an action to obtain that information from TransCanada.  And if you want to put any caveats around that number, please feel to do that.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we will mark that as an undertaking just so it doesn't get lost, J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  To obtain the requested information from TransCanada


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Quinn, you may continue now, please.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.


Just before the break, I started a line of questions, and I think it might be helpful if we turn up an exhibit first, and that might focus the question and the panel.


If you can turn up, please, Exhibit D Staff 3, the interrogatory response back to the Board Staff No. 3 to the reply evidence.


MR. WALLACE:  We have that.


MR. QUINN:  When I was asking about the question earlier, in the Exhibit D, Staff 3, you see this application has a means to address distribution system reinforcement; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  This application is for distribution reinforcement, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, we were at cross-purposes before the break.  You believe gas supply should not be considered at all when you look at this application; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, the gas supply role in this application is really to provide gas supply to the Union South integrated system on an average day basis.  So we do not necessarily contract, for gas supply reasons, to help support what should be an infrastructure build.


MR. QUINN:  So, according to Union, the Board should look at gas supply and the need for the proposed Burlington-Oakville pipeline as two separate and distinct events?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  On a long-term basis, you can't rely, for the reasons I stated before, on a third-party provider to take that role.  That is a role that you have the responsibility to have.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I have another question, but I need to ask this question because it comes to light.  We talked earlier about firm deliveries of Parkway reducing the required build on the Dawn Parkway system.  Mr. Wallace, is that not correct that the firm deliveries at Parkway serve to reduce the amount of facilities needed between Dawn and Parkway?


MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.  Deliveries at Parkway do not necessitate Dawn to Parkway facilities to meet them, to provide them.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Okay.


So I would like us to move to Exhibit D FRPO 4, which I believe is page 26 of the compendium.


MR. REDFORD:  We have it.


MR. QUINN:  So part (a) of this response says currently you have 21 TJs of gas supply from Niagara and 67 TJs of gas supply from Empress; correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that is -- our current transportation portfolio has those.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, part (b) of the response says, after construction of the proposed Burlington-Oakville pipeline, you will still have the Niagara supply.  But the gas supply from Empress would be reduced by 56 TJs to 11 TJs; correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  So the proposed pipeline would require a change in gas supply from Empress to Dawn; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, what -- I didn't get that.


MR. QUINN:  So, as a result, the proposed pipeline would require a change in gas supply from the supply point of Empress to Dawn; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  So that 67 we are able to decontract down to 11, and that 11 is being used to meet the average-day needs of our Union south system.  And we will replace that 57 difference through a gas supply purchased somewhere else.  It could be at Dawn; it could be upstream of Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  But it needs to start at Dawn to meet your obligations for Burlington-Oakville now?


MR. SHORTS:  As we have stated, that current contract, that 67, is used to meet the design day needs in Union North.  So we divert that contract in the wintertime to the north, so we can't rely on that contract to meet the CDA requirements of Union South.  That is met by the Union North customers redelivering a volume of gas on the system to Parkway.


MR. QUINN:  And, then, as a result of that diversion to the north, you would need to have gas provided by the Dawn Parkway system to the Parkway location to replace the 56.


MR. SHORTS:  That gas is already being delivered there on a peak day by the Union North customers.  Again, this is not supply.  We are talking about the supply we already have, and the transport is already in our plans and in our system to get that gas from Dawn, or wherever we purchase it upstream of Dawn, to Parkway.  We just do not have the capability to move that capacity from Parkway to the Union CDA, and that's the contracts that we have that we are looking to replace with this build.


MR. QUINN:  But you went from Niagara -- and I wanted to frame this the way I had asked, because I think we have lost something here, sir.  You have gone from 67 down to 11; you have told me the 56 goes to the north.  You now have to replace 56 TJs at Parkway, and that would come from Dawn, would it not?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The answer, Mr. Shorts, I've given was that, for some time, we have been diverting that capacity to the NDA.  That's been talked about in many cases before this one.  And because we have been doing that, we have actually replaced that capacity at Parkway with a Dawn to Parkway contract.  We have done that for a number of years, so that gas has already been coming from Dawn to Parkway on a peak winter condition, because that contract coming from Empress, the 67, is being diverted to serve customers in the north.


MR. QUINN:  Now, Mr. Isherwood, I want to make sure the record is clear.  You said "on a Dawn to Parkway contract."  Is it a contract, or is it Union facilities take the gas from Dawn to Parkway?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Fair enough.  The Dawn to Parkway facility takes the capacity; we don't contract with ourselves.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.  So the gas is going from Dawn to Parkway to replace the 56 TJs; that's the point I was trying to ask.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  All I'm trying to say is it's happening today.  It's not happening because of Burlington-Oakville.  It is happening today.


MR. QUINN:  So you do, in this case, look at gas supply and reinforcement of distribution assets – I'm sorry.


So which is it?  You look at gas supply and reinforcement of distribution assets separately, or together?


MR. SHORTS:  In the Union South, the gas supply plan is designed to meet the average-day needs of the Union South system.  So we buy 1/360th of our overall needs the same way a bundle direct purchase customer, or any purchase direct customer, in Union south does.


So, first and foremost, we do not the use or bank on that 11 to be able to meet any CDA requirement in the same way we don't assume the 21 is there to meet any kind of other requirement on the system.


It comes to -- for example, the 11, we don't necessarily have to contract for 11 going forward.  We can do something with that 11 in the next couple of years; we don't need to continue on with that 11.  That 11 provides us an average volume that meets our Union South needs.  It provides us base and diversity, but it's not -- we don't need it to provide CDA peak-day coverage.


MR. QUINN:  And is the 11 firm to Parkway?


MR. SHORTS:  That 11 is an Empress to the Union CDA contract.


MR. QUINN:  So it's firm to Parkway?


MR. SHORTS:  No.  It's firm to the Union CDA, that 11.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well --


MR. SHORTS:  That's what our contract with TransCanada is.  It's delivery to Empress, receipt at the Union CDA.


MR. QUINN:  The 11 is counted on, though, as being available to the Burlington-Oakville system in your forward plan.  I think that's what you answered in FRPO 4.  If I have that incorrect, sir, please clarify what I am missing.


MR. REDFORD:  So the 11 TJs was retained for two purposes, and the two purposes were, one, we wanted to flow a small amount of gas on the TransCanada system that would allow Burlington and Bronte to stay open, so, in case of emergency, that path would be available to us to supply the Burlington-Oakville system.


The second reason we kept it was that we have a commitment in the mainline settlement agreement to keep 85 TJs a day of long-haul capacity, and that was part of that -- that was part of that capacity.  We have had a number of changes in our portfolio, even recently, where we are holding much more than 85 TJs of long-haul capacity in our portfolio.


We also -- and Mr. Shorts earlier said we have 16 TJs a day of Parkway to Union ECDA capacity that is renewable.  So we could drop the 11 -- and it's likely to happen -- the 11 TJs a day of long-haul capacity from Empress and just renew 11 of the Parkway to Union ECDA into Burlington and Bronte, and that really would allow us to meet our commitment under the mainline settlement, and it would also allow us to flow some gas to keep Burlington and Bronte open.  Without any flow at all, TransCanada would likely shut both those stations down, and, you know, we thought that it would be a good idea to hold a little bit of Parkway to Union ECDA to keep them open as an emergency feed to the system.


MR. QUINN:  Has TransCanada told you they would shut them down if there was no flow?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Part of the discussion of the settlement that, if we were going entirely to our own pipeline system, then we would no longer need those two gate stations, and, as Mr. Redford mentioned, there may be a need on an emergency basis to keep those stations available.


MR. QUINN:  Is that in the mainline settlement agreement?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't believe it is.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We will come back to that.


So earlier I had you turn up Exhibit D, Staff 3, and if I could actually go back there once again.


Now, we understand that the Nexus contract commitment that Union is seeking preapproval of cost consequences is 150 TJs per day; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  So, in order to access this supply source, it will require displacing some existing gas supplies; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  For Union South, it will be displacing, for the most part, an Alliance Vector contract that is being delivered into Dawn currently.


MR. QUINN:  But is there anything over and above that?  My understanding of the Alliance contract, subject -- what is the excitement to the Alliance contract, Mr. Shorts, that is terminating this year?


MR. SHORTS:  The amount we are going to be terminating is approximately 85,000 TJs a day, and the amount of the Nexus contract that's going to be for Union South is 100,000.


MR. QUINN:  For Union South, but the total --


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  -- contract is 158 split between north and south?


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct, yes.


MR. QUINN:  And you look at your portfolios separately, north and south?


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  But you use the south capacity to Parkway to feed Union North, as you just described, as a diversion in the winter?


MR. SHORTS:  No.  It's north capacity to Parkway.  So the Union North customers are the customers that have gas, have capacity on the Union system, that normally would have just removed gas from storage that was put there during the summer, and then they replace the Union volume that's diverted at Parkway.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So if the north customers are using the Dawn Parkway system those costs are allocated to north customers.


MR. QUINN:  And the Empress to CDA contract that we were talking about before, the 67, Mr. Shorts said that that was diverted to the north.


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  The costs of that contract are borne by Union South customers, but the Union North customers replace that gas at the same spot in the CDA that the contract was supposed to be delivered at through a combination of the capacity on the Union system and the third-party contracts that we have spoken about.


MR. QUINN:  And so Union -- while the contracts are held separately by Union North and South, Union, through cost allocation, channels the appropriate cost to the north or south customers depending on the utilization of the contracts?  Is that a fair summary?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The contract costs for the CDA are split basically 80 percent to the Union North and 20 percent to the Union South, but predominantly it's that -- all that capacity is there to help replace those volumes that are being diverted away onto peak day.


MR. QUINN:  So, as system operator, you are determining where the gas would land best independent of the contractual designation of the delivery point?


MR. SHORTS:  What we are doing is ensuring that our customers receive that supply in the north, and, currently, that's an economic alternative to use the Union South contract, but, in turn, those customers have to redeliver an exact amount of gas to Parkway and then into the CDA.


We are going to be changing that going forward.  You know, we realize that relying on TransCanada diversions, they are interruptible, and we did get interrupted on those, so that is why we will be stopping that practice come November 1 of 2016 and actually contracting for capacity from Parkway to the NDA to replace that diversion that we can't rely on anymore.


MR. QUINN:  I think I heard a yes, but I just -- I need to make sure that I confirm it.  Union, as the system operator, decides how best to utilize the contract irrespective of where the delivery point is -- irrespective of delivery point that's in the contract?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we are always trying to find ways to serve customers in each of our different delivery areas to meet their peak day, and we are trying to find the most efficient way of doing that.


MR. QUINN:  That would be yes?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  But it's driven by the need to serve the peak-day requirement, but I think the important factor here, Mr. Quinn, is we have been doing that for a number of years and will continue to do it for this coming winter, but, by November 1 of 2016, it is changing dramatically so that the contract that we are diverting to the north will no longer be diverted to the north.  We are replacing that with firm short-haul capacity from Dawn to the NDA and the EDA.


MR. QUINN:  So Mr. Shorts was talking about the displacement of contracts, and he focused in on the Alliance contract for the south, but you would also then be having to turn back TCPL long haul in the north that is now going to be served -- proposed to be served through the Nexus supply; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  There would be an equivalent amount, because today the entire Union North is supplied by long-haul capacity from TransCanada, so we would be turning back an amount of capacity on TransCanada and using the Nexus supplies landing at Dawn to provide that diversity to those northern customers that didn't have it before.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just so that we are clear on this, if you could turn up Exhibit D, FRPO 2, page 4, and this is not in the compendium, because there are several pages in here -- there we go.  I'm sorry.  Actually, this one is -- I didn't print all the contracts and instead went to this.


So what I am reading in these tables is you are displacing 85 TJs from Alliance Vector.  Stopping there, is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And 73 in total of TCPL long-haul?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Are you on page 4; is that right?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Would you take that number subject to check?  You had indicated, Mr. Shorts, that you were --


MR. SHORTS:  I was just looking for the 73.  That's all.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you take it subject to check?


MR. SHORTS:  I would rather see -- you've just quoted in the charts that it was 73, and that is what I was looking for.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am asking you to take it subject to check, but it's not that material.  It's a large amount of TCPL capacity that has to be terminated -- sorry, better said, that would not be renewed so that you would have room in your portfolio for Nexus.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I have just lost the thread.  Where -- the large amount of TransCanada capacity that he is referring -- you are referring to, Mr. Quinn, is what?


MR. QUINN:  Is the -- Alliance -- Nexus has come in with 158.  We had that correct.  Eighty-five is Alliance.  There has to be a netting out of additional contracts to work -- to work out to 158, unless we are missing something and there is displacement due to growth, and then 73 would be a slightly smaller number.  But, again, it's not material.  It's a large amount of TransCanada in the order of 70 TJs.


MR. SHORTS:  There is a large of amount of TransCanada that will be turned back, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I just didn't want to get caught in the math.


MR. KEIZER:  Can I just clarify?  I have given my friend some latitude here with respect to this question, and I have been waiting to hear how the Nexus contract and the displacing of what that is -- which is a purchase, I think, for a wide portfolio of service for the Union South and Union North -- how that actually links to the Burlington-Oakville system.  I would like to see it -- I don't see what the relevance of the question is, because I don't see what this has to do with this proceeding.  It has more to do with the Nexus proceeding.


MR. QUINN:  And my question is, sir -- and hopefully, this will help the panel, and excuse me if I wasn't clear -- other than Alliance and TransCanada, are there other contracts you could then displace to accommodate import to Niagara?


MR. SHORTS:  We would look at our entire portfolio and make a decision on an ongoing basis, because we do have growth, and we would have other contracts that could potentially be displaced.  But, displacing the most expensive contract in the portfolio was the one that we chose to pursue.


MR. QUINN:  And you are referring to the Alliance contract?


MR. SHORTS:  I am referring to both the Alliance and the TransCanada contracts as being the two most expensive contracts within the portfolio.


MR. QUINN:  And our question is:  Beyond those two most expensive, where would you turn to next to accommodate additional import to Niagara?


MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, you said turn to next for additional --


MR. QUINN:  Which contracts would be available to you to turn back, if you were to import additional gas at Niagara?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The chart on page 4 of 4(c) is all the supply systems we currently contract at and the different pipes that we use to get gas to, basically, Dawn.


Just to go back to what Mr. Shorts said earlier on and to help explain Union's system of how we buy gas supply, we always look at landing gas at Dawn from the different producing areas, whether it's western Canada, the Gulf of Mexico, or Niagara, or Dawn.  We always look at it typically on an annual basis for setting up a portfolio for the next year.


Some contracts are multiple years.  Turning before the Board for Nexus would be a 15-year contract.  It's unusual to be that long; most are two or three.  But we do have contracts that are kind of winding down from a long-term commitment, and Alliance is a good example; it's at the end of a long-term contract.  Alliance is our most expensive.  We would terminate that and not renew it and look to other Dawn-based gas.


The whole purpose behind the TCPL settlement was to change the whole framework for Ontario.  And until the settlement kicked into place in 2013-2014, we were almost stranded in the north from basically Kenora to Cornwall, linked entirely to TransCanada capacity from Empress.  It is 20 percent more expensive than capacity at Dawn.


So the whole premises of the settlement was to create a framework where TCPL can actually expand and allow us -- being Enbridge, Union Gas, and Gaz Metro -- to turn back long-haul capacities to an expensive basin and replace to a market hub called Dawn, which is in Ontario and is part of our system.


By doing that, all three utilities are able to save their ratepayers a lot of money and get connected to a very liquid, fluid market hub called Dawn.  So all of these contracts – I think all of them -- maybe some TCPL contracts land at Parkway and get shipped to Dawn for summer storage.  But they typically are all based on landing at Dawn, where the gas is stored in the winter – sorry, stored in the summer and comes out in the winter.


To meet the needs of Union, Gaz Metro and Enbridge have contracts, and Enbridge has their own storage close to Dawn so -- I am just explaining the settlement and how it ties into our portfolio here.  So, every year, we look at essentially what are our best options for contracts up for renewal.


I can't tell you, Mr. Quinn, which one of these renew this year or next year.  I think some are in the interrogatory that you could look at in terms of renewal dates.  But we look at that ever year, in terms of what is the most effective way to replace contracts that are up for renewal.


MR. QUINN:  And this was included in your evidence earlier, sir, what you just stated?


I just would like us to move on, and I asked the specific question.  I am willing to move on because we want to be respectful of the Board's time here today.


So if I could ask you to turn up Exhibit D, Staff 4, and quoting from that, you say:

"Every time Union makes a gas supply purchasing decision, it evaluates all possible sources of supply, including Niagara and Dawn, and buying additional supply at Niagara for Union South gas supply portfolio will be evaluated in the future."


I am just trying to get a feel as to when that next evaluation could happen if the Nexus commitment is approved.


MR. SHORTS:  Again, as Mr. Isherwood said, I don't recall which exact contracts come up for renewal when, but most of those contracts are probably out to 2016 or 2017.  So it's really going to be around November 1st of 2017 when we are going to get most of the -- a fair chunk of those other contracts renewing, those upstream transportation contracts.


MR. QUINN:  Renewing, or your choice to not renew?


MR. SHORTS:  Or our choice not to renew, correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And the last time you evaluated such a – the last time you analyzed this significantly was for the Nexus commitment; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, the last time we analyzed what?


MR. QUINN:  Your gas supply options.


MR. SHORTS:  We analyze the gas supply options every year and then when we do the gas supply plan.  For example, in the memorandum we show each year if we have a change in circumstance and a change in volumes that drives the need for new supply at upstream.  We will do an evaluation at that point in time.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you. So you did do a significant evaluation obviously at the time you were looking at the purchase of the Nexus contract?


MR. SHORTS:  We have to look at the timeline of when we committed to the Nexus project, and, at that point, we had -- we were analyzing all of our options.  But our options were to try and -- number one, we wanted to replace that Alliance contract that was going to be decontracted.  We didn't know that until late in 2010.


And then late in 2010, when we made that decision to decontract or not renew the Alliance contract in November of 2015, certainly most of those initial open seasons on Niagara capacity had already happened.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think it might just be helpful -- I did provide in my compendium -- and, again, apologies on the lack of references -- from EB-2015-0166, this is the Nexus proceeding, and on page 32 of our compendium is a response that Union has provided London Property Management Association on a landed gas cost analysis.


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. QUINN:  You are very familiar with that, Mr. Shorts?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  So, in your application, the application had different numbers, I understand, that were updated for the purpose --


MR. KEIZER:  I still have a hard time understanding why we are now exploring the evidence in the Nexus proceeding in this proceeding and the numbers that were filed there and how that relates to the evaluation of the need and alternatives that we are considering with respect to this pipeline application.


DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Quinn, can your clarify that?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, sir.  As we were discussing earlier with the panel, we have been asking about their evaluation of other alternatives to feed the Burlington-Oakville area.  And those alternatives, and as part of Ms. Cheung’s evidence, would emanate from Niagara.  While they are -- the witness panel has said they are separate decisions.  The landed gas cost goes into the overall cost of gas to serve customers.  So it's a combination of the distribution plant and the cost to the customers for the distribution plant and the cost of gas supply.


We think it's pertinent to the valuation of alternatives for this application, because there is an inherent benefit that is part of that table for purchasing gas at Niagara.  And if we could just go through that a bit, I hopefully can tie that together for you.


MR. KEIZER:  I just assumed that my friend is not going to be evaluating the Nexus contract as basis for that somehow that -- as a basis to compare Niagara to Nexus, which I think is completely irrelevant to this proceeding, and that if there is something related to Niagara it would be helpful if the witnesses could directly deal with that rather than material that relates to a completely different proceeding and a completely different contract that's actually -- of which Burlington-Oakville is a very small -- is a part of the overall portfolio, but it's not the only part of the whole Nexus contractual arrangement.


DR. ELSAYED:  Is that the intent?


MR. QUINN:  The intent, sir, is to look at the evaluation of the economics of the alternatives that Union considered.  Gas supply, as I think you will see in just a few questions I will ask in this area, I don't intend -- I am not asking this Panel to make any decisions.  Obviously that's inappropriate.  I am just asking for the evidence to be here so this Panel can see an economic valuation that is holistic, and that is our view of what needs to be considered -- what ought to be considered in an economic valuation of a project.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I would ask that you proceed, but keep in mind the relevance to this proceeding --


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Quinn, I might just caution you that some members of this Panel might be on the Nexus proceeding, so we don't want to get into too many details, but general context would be helpful.


MR. QUINN:  Factual questions to establish costs will be the limit of what we are saying.  I am going to have to consider your -- I am going to heed your caution based upon a question I have here, so I might pause on that before I move forward.


So turning up the LPMA, the attachment goes through the actual landed costs, and again with apologies to the print size, possibly Mr. Gagne can assist -- moving across, starting at the top of the page, we have TCPL Niagara to Kirkwall, and the cost of gas, scrolling over to the right, would be $9.01; do you see that?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.  But, again, let's remember what the question was.  It was take our January 2015 analysis and change the exchange rate, and that is what we did.


Now, it didn't really have a big impact because most all the prices quoted are in U.S. anyway, so everything changed in lockstep, but, yes, that's the number that this exercise resulted in.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And because it's hard to read across the tables, I am going to just ask you:  This would be compared to 936 or 948 from Nexus or specifically 956 from Dawn?


MR. SHORTS:  That is what the answer in the chart says, but, again, what you have to look at from a landed cost analysis is a landed cost analysis is done at a point in time.  It is using a set of assumptions.  Those assumptions change from time to time.  It depends on the term and depends on the time in which you actually did the analysis.


If we look at SEC No. 9, which we also responded to a similar scenario, what you will see is that, back in 2013-2014, when we filed our -- part of our deferral application, the Niagara landed cost was not the least expensive cost in the portfolio at that time.


So, again, they change from time to time, and we expect they will continue to change.  I -- you know, given the illiquid nature of the Niagara market, you know, I have had conversations with suppliers who are expecting that, come this winter, we are going to see a shift in that and that the Niagara prices are going to start to ramp up quite substantially and quickly.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.  That will probably help us to frame this properly.  Union has said in their reply evidence about the illiquid nature of Niagara.  Union has been buying gas at Niagara since 2012.  By way of undertaking, could you provide the actual monthly landed gas cost at Dawn and Niagara from 2012 up to April 2015?


MR. KEIZER:  Well, first of all, I am not sure the amount of work that's actually required to do it over that period of time, but also in terms of the relevance of it, you are saying that -- what?  That it's relevant because you want to compare the costs of gas but not necessarily the facility costs?


MR. QUINN:  Union has asserted in its reply evidence -- and just Mr. Shorts just said about the illiquid nature of Niagara.  I am just asking for some numbers to demonstrate that -- what the price is and what impact that has had, that illiquid nature, on Union's purchases.


So Mr. Keizer alluded to the amount of time.  This is not a big time-based exercise, is it, Mr. Shorts?


MR. SHORTS:  I don't know, Mr. Quinn.  I mean, we track that, and it could be fairly simple.  I don't know.  But the only thing I would caution, again, is that we would be looking at history to try and, again, be an example of what's going forward, and things change from year to year, from day to day.  Those landed costs analyses are continuously moving, and, as I mentioned, looking forward we don't expect that that -- the prices that maybe we have seen in the last year or so will continue on.


Liquidity is a very complicated issue.  It's not just all about price.  It's about ensuring that you can get a competitive price where there are lots of sellers.  We know that at a point in which there are lots of sellers there is going to be lots of competition, and you know you are going to get a competitive price.  It's not to say that there could be an anomaly in the marketplace based upon the way gas flows.  That price might not necessarily always be the lowest.


MR. QUINN:  And, sir, that is why I asked for multiple months, so anomalies would get worked out.  That would provide you -- any of those flow anomalies or restrictions, so if we get the 2.5-year period approximately in that time period, we would see what the actual gas cost is at Niagara compared to Dawn.


MR. KEIZER:  May I just have a moment?


So, Mr. Chair, we will obviously -- subject to obviously the comment -- I am not sure about the amount of work that would be required to do it, but we would be prepared to provide that undertaking on a best efforts basis.  To the extent we can do it, we will do it subject to any qualifications or assumptions that we will have to make, and if there are reasons why we can't provide a fulsome basis for it, we will have to explain that in the undertaking.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Keizer.


MR. MILLAR:  It's J1.3.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL MONTHLY LANDED GAS COST AT DAWN AND NIAGARA FROM 2012 UP TO APRIL 2015


MR. QUINN:  So that was the past, and, as Mr. Shorts alluded to, sometimes things change.  So, in addition, does Union have gas contracts finalized in terms of transport costs to Niagara for the year of 2015-2016?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, cost or volume?


MR. QUINN:  Terms of transport cost.  Have you fixed your transport cost at Niagara in any of your contracts for the years 2015 to 2016?


MR. SHORTS:  The transport cost is always fixed; it's the TransCanada toll.


MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry.  As a landed cost to Niagara.


MR. SHORTS:  I don't believe we have contracted the supply to fill that contract throughout the year 2015-2016.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if you don't have that available, what I would like to do is to turn to the next item in our compendium, and it is actually a transcript from the Nexus proceeding wherein Enbridge is purchasing gas at Niagara, and maybe they have a different schedule than Union Gas in terms of when they purchase their gas.


And so at the bottom of the third page -- I'm sorry.  This is from the 2015-0166 and -0175 Nexus application where Enbridge evidences their cost of gas going forward at Niagara from this winter.  I am just going to help, hopefully, with the specific reference.


I much apologize.  The file is not opening, and I believe it is just a technical glitch in the short term, but I don't want to take the Board's time.  I am going to move forward and then I will come back to that in a moment with that specific reference -- here with are – okay, I have it here now.


It is starting on actually -- and I will -- just from a time efficiency point of view, it's page 58.  At the bottom of page 58, there is a preamble that I have included in the compendium that is not essential.


But starting at page 58, line 10, we had asked Enbridge about their experience and they have basically -- they say:

"So we have negotiated, basically, two-year -- really, 22-month contracts with them.  So I certainly have an indication of price for the next couple of years, but not beyond that."


And I said:

"Okay.  Can you provide the average price relative to an index?"


And Mr. Leblanc says:

"So I can actually provide that directly.  For contracts we have signed to this date, the average price is Dawn minus 46 Canadian per GJ."


And I asked him minus 46 relative to what, and he said to Dawn.


So with that reference, Mr. Shorts, are you seeing significantly different prices than Enbridge?


MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, we have not contracted for 22 months or two years on our -- for Niagara to Kirkwall supply.  We have been usually contracting month to month or seasonally on those to fill those supply contracts for Union South.  So I can't say what prices, because we have not gone on to the market to look for a 22-month supply deal at Niagara.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just add to Mr. Shorts' answer?  If you look on the page before that, Mr. Leblanc goes on for a page in terms of the issues and challenges he had sourcing gas at Niagara.  And it goes to our same premise in our reply evidence that it's illiquid.


So just a couple of highlights.  "When you went to Niagara", he says, "you know, the list was short in terms of suppliers, and it got shorter as we sort of got to the fine strokes of getting supply."


And he had to go to TransCanada to get his delivery contract expanded to include Niagara, but also Chippewa, the second point -– the second bullet point Mr. Redford mentioned.  And what he found is what we were hearing in the market.  And what we see in contracts in our system is, when you see a prices differential of 0.46 cents -- or in the chart that Mr. Shorts had at 901, it means there is gas-on-gas competition.  Gas is cheap at a point because it can't get away from that point.  So there are more sellers than there are buyers, which goes back to it's illiquid.


When we did our 2015 new capacity open season, we had several marketers and producers contract on our system from Kirkwall back to Dawn.  And the reason they're doing that -- that is starting in 2015 and some in 2016.  The reason they are doing that is to get away from Niagara.  They don't want to sell at the cheap price.  They would rather take it back to Dawn where it's more liquid, and they have more buyers for their gas.


So Mr. Leblanc also said at item -- line 14:

"Most of the gas that's coming to the border also has transportation beyond the border.  Those suppliers want to get away from Niagara, and it's too cheap.  They can get more value taking it to Dawn, and that's what we are seeing as well."


Mr. Shorts had mentioned that what happened in the last year or two is going to be different than the next year or two.  We have heard that from our consultant.  We have heard from other marketers and producers, and I personally believe that as well, given the contracts we're seeing in terms of getting gas away from this cheap, discounted market.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So -- and you referred to it, and that is where my next question goes, and this will be mostly -- this will be a summary.  The last question is here, and then I will summarize.  But on that landed gas cost analysis that was in LPMA 7, which I had referred to previously, on page 33 of our compendium, this is a 15-year outlook, and this was produced by Union Gas in conjunction with its gas supply experts?


MR. SHORTS:  No.  We would -- what our gas supply consultant, ICF, provided -- this is their numbers.


MR. QUINN:  So this is the gas supply numbers, the numbers we spoke about earlier, comparing Nexus and -- sorry, TCPL Niagara, Rover, Nexus Dawn, those numbers are directly from ICF?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  All of these numbers are from the ICF scenario, I believe, at the bottom, base case January 2015.  And, again, as I had said before, the landed cost is done as a point in time.  If we were to, for example, significantly increase purchases at Niagara, the same -- these same assumptions would not hold true.  We would expect a significant purchase at Niagara to actually impact the market and actually have a serious impact on prices going forward.


MR. QUINN:  What number would you say was a significant purchase at Niagara?


MR. SHORTS:  Certainly any of the scenarios we looked at, whether it was the 94 or certainly the 276 in the reply evidence.


MR. QUINN:  So Enbridge is buying 20O TJs a day; correct?


MR. SHORTS:  They have bought 200 a day.


MR. QUINN:  Right.  So ICF was aware of that when they did this analysis; correct?


MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the underlying assumptions on who they assumed were delivering volumes.  But they themselves assume certain volume flows across each of the paths that they analyze.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, this is -- as a gas supply person. Mr. Shorts, you have to make a decision at a point in time; correct?


MR. SHORTS:  We make a decision at various points in time.


MR. QUINN:  And as a result of that, you have to rely on the best information you have available at the time?


MR. SHORTS:  We look at the information both from what ICF provides us as well as information we gather from talking to our suppliers.


MR. QUINN:  So just using the bottom end of the difference between TCPL, Niagara to Kirkwall, and Nexus, you have in the order of 33 to 35 cents difference over the 15-year analysis that ICF provided?


MR. SHORTS:  In this scenario, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So would you take it, subject to check, that the lower end of that range of the 33 to 35 on 158,000 GJs per day is over 20 million -- just, sorry, around $20 million per year?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  On what volume?


MR. QUINN:  158,000 GJs per day.


MR. SHORTS:  Subject to check, I am assuming your math is correct.


MR. QUINN:  It's around 20 million.  I wasn't looking for precision; I wasn't putting you on the spot.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I am confused as to what's the basis for the 158.


MR. QUINN:  It is the Nexus contract that we --


MR. KEIZER:  Are you comparing this to the Nexus contract?  Are we back to that evaluation in this proceeding, or are we at the Burlington-Oakville valuation?  We haven't heard much about Burlington-Oakville in your questions.


MR. QUINN:  I will ask the question of the witness panel.  Do you think the Board should be taking gas supply costs into account in the evaluation of projects in its objectives under the OEB Act?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say they should be aware of costs.  But, again, from a point of view -- if we looked at landed cost analysis for every community we served, it would be a disaster.


Union South is very much an integrated system.  We have always bought gas supply in terms of the total market demand, and we look at the total landed cost to get to Dawn, as these charts show.  And we get a variety -- a diversity of contracts to have diversity; it gives us security of supply.


So to premise that we should be at Niagara, which our evidence in Exhibit C, pages 9, 10, 11 talks to, is an illiquid point.  The Enbridge witness said it's illiquid; they have trouble with liquidity.  The producer we talked to wanted to get away from Niagara.  We would not think it's prudent to take a large contract today and go to Niagara.


Whether Niagara improves in future -- and we have said in evidence that, in the future, in 2016 and 2017, we would always consider Niagara; we consider more panhandle, more Vector, more everything.  So we are wide open in terms of looking at it again in 2016 and 2017.  But in today's environment, we don't view that as being a good place to buy gas.  And I certainly wouldn't want to lock in a 15-year contract on the premise that somehow helping Milton and Oakville and Burlington -- the costs get rolled into the bigger pot of serving all of southern Ontario, not any one community.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  I am going to move to a different area, and I just wanted to check with the panel toward in looking for a lunch break.


DR. ELSAYED:  Well, we are looking at 12:30, roughly.  Do you think --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  This area, I think, can be covered by before 12:30, before I move into my last area.  And I might even get into my last area, depending on how quickly this goes.  I just wanted to differentiate from the schedule that was in front of us this morning.


DR. ELSAYED:  Then go ahead.


MR. QUINN:  I just wanted to understand some aspects of the required timing of this project, and Mr. Shorts brought some new evidence to light.  So if I pause during my preparation, I just need to incorporate what he shared with us this morning.


As we discussed earlier, there were two existing feeds from the Union system, from the 8-inch and 12-inch from the Dawn Parkway system into the Burlington-Oakville area.  Currently, to meet the winter demand, Union relies on two additional contracts.  One, which is in your evidence, is Union -- sorry, Dawn to CDA from TCPL, that's 60,000 and what was a third-party contract from Parkway to CDA that you have recently converted with TransCanada; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Those make up part of the requirement; they are not the entire requirement.


MR. QUINN:  What have I missed in addition to those?


MR. SHORTS:  Well, we have -- we have the 60.  We have the 16.  We have the 8.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Give the path.


MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, those are all -- we have the 60 from Dawn to the Union CDA.  We have the 8 of the Dawn to Union CDA capacity, and we have 16 of the firm Parkway to Union CDA transportation as well as the 61,888 I spoke about this morning that replaces the secondary market contract.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification, Mr. Shorts.  I just want to make sure we have all the flows updated by what you described this morning, and they are not in evidence to this point, so I just want to make sure we had it right.


So I want to talk about them one at a time, and then we will have to change some of our discussions on the second contract, which you updated.  But, first, the Dawn to CDA contract from TCPL, the expiry on that contract is October 31, 2017; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, October 31, 2017.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But it's also in evidence -- you don't need to turn it up.  I think you evidenced it a few times.  This contract can be terminated earlier with the completion -- the approval and completion of the Burlington-Oakville pipeline?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  TransCanada has allowed us to link that termination to that.


MR. QUINN:  And was that a stipulation created by way of the mainline settlement agreement, or was it by subsequent agreement?


MR. SHORTS:  That was by subsequent agreement.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  However, it's not really a long-haul to short-haul conversion as provided for in the mainline settlement agreement decision, is it?


MR. SHORTS:  This particular contract is not a long-haul to short-haul.


MR. QUINN:  And the -- I guess the bottom line is, if Union did not get the pipe in place by November 2016 because of construction issues or the Board did not approve the leave to construct, the contract would run to November 2017; is that correct?


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, the newly created contract with TransCanada -- actually, we -- I don't know that I need to ask those questions, because you have done something helpful, I believe.


So was that capacity that Union purchased -- or, sorry, obtained from TransCanada, was it part of the most recent TransCanada open season?


MR. SHORTS:  It was a new capacity open -- or an existing capacity open season -- pardon me -- that was at the end of August.


MR. QUINN:  Now, did Union bid on any Niagara capacity to any point?  Do you know?


MR. SHORTS:  That existing capacity open season was just for this path.


MR. QUINN:  There were no other paths offered by TransCanada in that existing capacity open season?


MR. SHORTS:  Existing capacity open seasons can happen periodically, and it doesn't necessarily always have to be a capacity -- a path that they have put forth.


MR. QUINN:  So, in your ongoing evaluations of the existing capacity open seasons, have you seen Niagara capacity available to either Kirkwall or to the CDA?


MR. SHORTS:  Again, Mr. Quinn, as we have shown in the evidence, contracting from Niagara to the Union CDA is just not practical, because contracting in that manner means that we would have to rely on TransCanada diversions, which are interruptible, and that is what the whole operationalization analysis through the reply evidence was about.


We need to get that capacity from Niagara to Kirkwall to get it into the Union system, and then from that point forward it needs to move forward.  If, for example, in the example, if we were having capacity -- and I will use the 276 example because it's fairly straightforward -- if we were using 276 to go from Niagara to the Union CDA, that 276, on a firm basis, what would we do in the summertime when the average or low load is roughly 28?  We would have to then find a home for that capacity, which on TransCanada would require a diversion.  Those diversions, again, are interruptible.  We cannot rely on them.


So if we were to contract to any Niagara supply -- in other words, if it were available, and if it were cost effective, it would still have to go Niagara to Kirkwall, then Kirkwall to Parkway, and Parkway to the CDA.  That's the way it would have to flow to ensure that it was a firm contract and it was a firm service.


MR. QUINN:  I know that's your view, sir, and we ask questions it would be helpful to understand earlier.  So I think what I would like to do is narrow the question to what I asked in the first place, and that is, did Union -- was capacity available from Niagara -- I will break it up.  Was the capacity available from Niagara to Kirkwall available in those existing capacity open seasons that you reviewed?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no idea, and, at the time, we are trying to replace a secondary market exchange that we had been using the last three years with capacity from Parkway, so to Mr. Shorts' earlier discussion, we serve the CDA based on peak demand coming out of Dawn and average supply or demand being served by all of our mixed supply, not any one stream going to any one market.


We serve 400 communities in Ontario.  We can't create a supply portfolio for all 400 communities.  We do it on a generic integrated basis for all of Union South, and then we look at the north in smaller pieces, but we don't buy it by community.  It is just not done.  It is not practical.


MR. QUINN:  That wasn't what I was suggesting, sir, and I just -- I will move to a direct question, then, and hopefully we can move on.


So Union has monitored TransCanada open seasons.  Has Union proactively approached TransCanada to determine if capacity is available from Niagara to Burlington-Oakville that could displace the TransCanada Dawn to CDA contract?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The June 19th letter from TCPL, I think, goes into detail what is available and what is not available.  The 208 we have already talked about.  Anything above that has to go into Kirkwall to Parkway to CDA path.


MR. QUINN:  So -- but my question asked specifically:  Have you approached them to determine if there is Niagara to Burlington-Oakville capacity that could displace the Dawn to CDA contract?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Give those two paths again, sorry?  I missed the first one.


MR. QUINN:  Niagara to Burlington-Oakville or from -- sorry, to replace the Dawn to CDA path.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say we approached that as recently as June 19.


MR. QUINN:  To determine the capacity available.  Did Union make a request to see if that could be accommodated by TransCanada, that shift?  Yes or no?


MR. KEIZER:  I think he has answered the question.  They spoke about it as part of the response to the questions that have been filed in this proceeding with respect to the available capacity.


MR. QUINN:  We will get to that letter a little bit later on, Mr. Keizer.  The letter talks about the capacity of the system.  I asked if they had approached TransCanada for the opportunity to have a Niagara to Burlington-Oakville contract to replace the Dawn to CDA contract.


MR. REDFORD:  That answer is no.  And our reply evidence goes through a scenario based on the suggestion that we can get gas from Niagara.  And we assumed that you would buy an average day of 94 TJs a day out of Niagara and move that to the Burlington-Oakville system, just to look at the economics of that.


That -- as Mr. Shorts noted, that needs to be operationalized so that gas, if it can't be burnt in the Burlington-Oakville system, has to reach the Dawn Parkway system so it can go to -- either to Dawn or to other markets, but -- so we looked at it.  It's not economic.  It is less economic than the proposed pipeline.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And then you clarified something I was going to ask, but in amongst what you said, the gas could get to Kirkwall and doesn't have to go to Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It has to go to Dawn.  To the extent that the local market is lower than the 94, which, in the summertime, I think the minimum day is 28, if I recall the number in the evidence.  So the difference between 28, which is a minimum consumption in Oakville-Burlington on a hot summer day, and the 94 has to go to Dawn into storage.


MR. QUINN:  What is the minimum flow on the Dawn Parkway system going from Dawn to Parkway in the summer?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is negative.  It is -- in the last two years, we have been importing from Parkway to Dawn in the summer.


MR. QUINN:  From Parkway to Dawn in the summer, so the gas is going to Dawn via -- from Kirkwall to Dawn on Union's Dawn to Parkway system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  The ratepayers are paying for the cost of the system at their allocated portion of the cost of the system; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think Ms. Elliott is looking for a chance to talk here.  You mentioned allocated costs, so...


MS. ELLIOTT:  Maybe I'll just lean over here.


The ratepayers are paying for the Dawn Parkway system, which was designed to serve peak winter days.  So the franchise ratepayers are paying for allocation of Dawn Parkway based on peak day in the wintertime and the distance the gas travels.  The fact that it flows directionally both east and west is part of the operations, but not part of the rate design.


MR. QUINN:  And so if we are getting into the operations, then, you provided the amount of minimum market in the summer in the Burlington-Oakville area.  Could you also provide the minimum market in the Hamilton and Kirkwall Dominion markets that the TransCanada system serves in that area?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Any gas supply we buy and where it gets delivered is operationalized.  So it will feed any market it needs along the way.  But, directionally, you would need to establish the path back to Dawn to ensure it can get back to Dawn on a warm summer day.


MR. QUINN:  Would that increase the cost to the ratepayers of delivering gas from Kirkwall back to Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will again ask Ms. Elliott, but I would say yes from an allocation point of view.


MR. QUINN:  Ms. Elliott just said it might be helpful that it's allocated based on a Dawn to Parkway peak-day design.  We are talking about a summer flow from Kirkwall back to Dawn.  Would that have an impact on the allocation of costs, Ms. Elliott?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think we are probably confusing a couple of things.  The cost allocation and rate design will be driven off of the design-day demands and the way that the facilities were constructed.  What we are -- when we are trying to compare alternatives, we would have to look at, I guess, costing a service the same way we would charge a third-party service provider for.  So to the extent that we are charging for flows from Kirkwall to Dawn when we are evaluating service options, we have included those in the service option.


MR. QUINN:  But I asked -- the question I asked was:  Does it increase costs to customers as a result of flowing gas from Kirkwall back to Dawn?


MS. ELLIOTT:  If it becomes the primary driver of costs, it could, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Is it currently the primary driver of costs, and would it be in 2017?


MS. ELLIOTT:  If we are taking capacity off the system, there could be an allocation of costs to those customers for that capacity, yes.


MR. QUINN:  I am asking specifically -- and I'm sorry, but I am not getting an answer to the question I was asking.  And maybe this might be helpful, so I will try it this way.  Customers, for decades, have been landing firm gas at Parkway as part of what we talked about earlier; is that not correct, Ms. Elliott?


MS. ELLIOTT:  There has been firm supply landing at Parkway, yes.


MR. QUINN:  And that goes into your cost allocation approach of allocating Dawn to Parkway costs?


MS. ELLIOTT:  On peak day, it does, yes.


MR. QUINN:  On peak day.  So in this last – well, I am going to say in this last year, gas that arrived at Parkway went back to Dawn.  Was there a cost allocated to customers for that service -- in-franchise customers for that service, for the in-franchise customers are obligating their volumes to Parkway?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Again, the facilities are allocated to customers on peak day for delivery to the market areas.  There is a recognition that the gas coming into Parkway provides some benefit on peak day, to the extent that we can rely on it as part of the cost allocation.  But there is no incremental cost for in-franchise customers in the current environment for moving gas from Parkway to Dawn; that's not the way current rates are designed.


MR. QUINN:  Right.  So extrapolating that, I heard you say, and to summarize, there is no incremental cost to transport the gas from Parkway to Dawn; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  In the current rate design and cost allocation, there is no incremental cost if you deliver gas at Parkway as part of your obligation to deliver to us.


MR. QUINN:  So if gas flowed from Kirkwall to Dawn, would there be any incremental cost to in-franchise customers as a result?


MS. ELLIOTT:  In-franchise customers don’t contract for those services, so there is no current charge for it.  But if you're an in-franchise customer, you're paying a cost.


MR. QUINN:  That wasn't my question.  Union Gas is buying gas to -- in this scenario we are talking about, your gas supply plan, you are buying in the best way you can.  So this is system gas for in-franchise customers; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  This is system gas for in-franchise customers being delivered to our franchise area.


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So in that scenario, then, gas delivered by Union Gas under the 21 TJs per day, to the extent that in the summer that gas goes from Kirkwall to Dawn, is there any incremental cost to in-franchise customers?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The rates have been designed, and there is no change in those rates during the IR term other than for the price cap and the allocation of new capital costs. But what we would --


MR. QUINN:  And under that regime, is there any cost from Kirkwall back to Dawn?


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think she hadn't finished her response first.


MS. ELLIOTT:  There is a cost for the Dawn Parkway system in its entirety.  There is no incremental charge for Kirkwall to Parkway, to the extent that we flow more volume other than some commodity.  But there would be lost revenue if the capacity was being used for in-franchise versus ex-franchise.


MR. QUINN:  Ms. Elliott, again, I want to make sure the record is clear.  I was asking Kirkwall to Dawn, and you answered just now Kirkwall to Parkway.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry.


MR. QUINN:  So there is an incremental in-franchise cost for getting gas from Kirkwall to Dawn in the summer?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the problem I am having is there is no rate for that service that is charged to in-franchise customers at this point in time.


MR. QUINN:  So there is no incremental cost to in-franchise customers?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't think we have a right to charge them for it is the issue, so --


MR. QUINN:  So the answer would be there is no cost?


MS. ELLIOTT:  There may be a cost to the system of using the capacity.  But the ratepayers, under the current rate mechanisms, there isn't an allocation of additional costs to in-franchise customers unless it starts to affect the cost allocation units underpinning base rates, which would be redone in the 2019 application.


MR. QUINN:  All right.  We are going to touch on more areas in this area after the break.  But I think, at this juncture it would be appropriate, if that's comfortable for you, Mr. Chair.


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  We will break for an hour and resume at 1:35.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:37 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:39 p.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Mr. Quinn, any estimate of how much time you need?


MR. QUINN:  Approximately an hour, sir.  I am hopeful that this section will go a little more quickly, but approximately an hour.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  So please proceed then.


MR. QUINN:  If I may, sir, as a preliminary matter, I appreciate the Board provided the -- asked for the undertaking be provided we were asking for this morning, but in respect to the panel -- and there was a lot of dialogue that went ahead of that, so I asked for the transcript at the noon hour, and the transcribers had trouble figuring out what the undertaking was exactly supposed to be.


Would it be appropriate if I could read into the record what I believe the undertaking is, and --


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  And we will make sure there a mutual understanding of what --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, sir.  I just wanted to make sure there was no lack of clarity because of the dialogue that preceded it.


So this was the Undertaking J1.2, and we were asking that Union would undertake to request TCPL to provide the capacity available under peak winter conditions from MLV 209 near Hamilton Gate 3 to MLV 207 near Burlington Gate.


DR. ELSAYED:  Any issue with that?


MR. KEIZER:  Well, our understanding was that the whole discussion took place around the flow diagram that was in Ms. Cheung's evidence, and that flow diagram was peak summer, and the discussion involved around the 200 versus 287 and whether we would ask as to whether that 87 was available or whether it was -- 200 was the physical capability or the ability to flow on that line.  I don't recall there being any discussion about the winter peak.


MR. QUINN:  If I may, sir.  That is where we started with talking about the ability of the TransCanada system to provide it.  We had provided the schematic that was directly from evidence as for ease of visualization, but as -- in response to Member Long's question, I talked about pipe capacity as pipe capacity.  Union has its view as to how it is taking -- how it is reading this.  We have our view.  And I think the appropriate view is TransCanada's view as to what is the capacity, so that is what we were seeking at the outset of our questions.


MR. KEIZER:  We are not debating the question about the TransCanada -- we understood the intent of your order, which was to actually inquire of TransCanada.  What we are speaking about was the fact that the whole area of cross-examination was related to that flow -- flow diagram, and it related to summer peak, and it related to the 200 and the 287, and that's what we understood it was about.


We do not -- and I don't recall, and our notes don't reflect that -- I didn't have the benefit of the transcript -- that it related in any way, shape, or form to the winter peak, because we didn't have that flow diagram in front of us in that regard, and there was no discussion about that.  It was around the 200 and 287 between 207 and 209, and that, recognizing your order, we are prepared to go and inquire of TransCanada in that regard.


DR. ELSAYED:  Is there an issue in getting that information that Mr. Quinn is asking for?  I guess my interpretation -- I am not an expert in that area -- but was that -- explicitly was about the physical capacity of the pipe, and I thought it was a straightforward question, I guess, but maybe it is not.


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I mean, that's fine, if you wanted to ask us with respect to that.  I'm just -- my view is -- why I am objecting is because it's a new aspect, which was not discussed in front of the witnesses and didn't form part of the ruling, and that's why I am raising the issue, and so if you are now, you know, including as part of your ruling an undertaking to consider it in general, then obviously we would respect and abide by your ruling to the best of our ability.


DR. ELSAYED:  Was that your intent?


MR. QUINN:  That was my intent, sir.  It was when Union brought out the fact of the schematic it said summer that they differentiated summer from the peak conditions that we were seeking, and that is why, when I went to pipe as a capacity, whether it's summer or winter, so we were debating summer or winter.  Our intent was:  Could TransCanada provide the flow through that pipeline to meet contractual needs of -- contractual and flow needs of the Burlington-Oakville system, so that would be presumptively under peak winter conditions.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Then that is what we should do then.


MR. KEIZER:  We will.  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.  I am glad we had this discussion now and not subsequent so we are on the same page.  Thank you.


DR. ELSAYED:  You're welcome.


MR. QUINN:  If I could ask the witness panel to turn up Exhibit D, FRPO 6, which is page 40 of our compendium.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Quinn, did you say FRPO 8 or 6?


MR. QUINN:  Six.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So page 40 is FRPO 8.


MR. QUINN:  Oh, I'm -- that's my mistake, Mr. Isherwood.  The one I am seeking is FRPO 6.  I am sorry for the confusion my lingering error is causing.  So FRPO 6.


MR. KEIZER:  And is that a particular page in your compendium; do you have that?  Oh, I think it's page 37.


MR. QUINN:  Thirty-seven?  Thank you.  Do the witnesses have a copy of FRPO 6 in front of them, with my apologies?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  The response to part (c) says:

"The costs associated with Dawn Kirkwall capacity are recovered from both in-franchise and ex-franchise customers in proportion to their Dawn Parkway distance-weighted design demands."


We had some discussion before the break, and I just want to make sure we had some clarity.  When you say "design-day demands," are you referring to the demands in the winter -- sorry, when you say "design-day demands," you are referring to demands in the winter, not the summer; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Our current rates and our current cost allocation is based on winter design conditions, so, yes, the current rates are based on winter demands weighted by distance.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And then subsequently, if you could turn up FRPO 12, which I am hoping is the next page of the compendium, but I had put it aside.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is.


MR. REDFORD:  It is.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


So in that question we were asking about -- I had asked about Dawn Parkway design, and if we go to the far right-hand portion of the attachment, which is -- sorry, this is my error continuing here.


In the Burlington-Bronte design, my understanding is the design-day demand from the Dawn Parkway system is 146 TJs.  It's listed as 145,734 on the screen.


MR. WALLACE:  I'm sorry.  What was the question again, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Just confirming we are talking about -- the Burlington-Bronte design that comes off the Dawn Parkway system is 145,734 TJs per day?


MR. WALLACE:  In winter 2015/2016, that would be the volume that would be flowing through the Burlington and Bronte stations being fed from the Dawn Parkway system.  It is not the entire market there at that time.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  If the actual demand is higher than 146 TJs, is there any true-up mechanism so that more costs are allocated to Bronte-Burlington at a later period?


MS. ELLIOTT:  In our current incentive regulation period, the prices were set in 2013 based on the cost study.  So we would be -- we would have used design day allocators for 2013.


Now, this isn't my area of responsibility.  But as I understand, as we are building Dawn Parkway capacity and we are adding the incremental capacity, we will be making changes to those design day allocators for the incremental load.  But the full rate redesign rebasing and any adjustments to load in the Burlington-Oakville area probably won't be reflected in rates until 2019.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And with your experience, Ms. Elliott, you have gone beyond my question; I was trying to stay at the simple level.


So if we just take the 2013-14 level of service going to Burlington Bronte, that was established in the base rates.  If there is a load that exceeds that, you say it is going into a forward mechanism.  But there isn't an adjusting allocation in the deferral accounts in the interim period?


MS. ELLIOTT:  There is not, no.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Conversely, if the demand was actually lower than the original established in that cost allocation study, there is no adjustment also?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  If we can assume that Burlington-Oakville winter peak day is 200 TJs, just to the use a round number, and the average day demand from other interrogatory responses you gave us is 34 percent of a peak day to get a round number, that would be 68 TJs per day.  And the summer demand would be closer to the 10 percent that’s been provided, or 20 TJs per day.  That's the underlying simple scenario we are asking about. 


So if 100 percent of this demand is served from Dawn for cost allocation purposes, you would use 200 TJs per day and ignore the average day, or the summer day demand for the purposes of allocating the cost; is that correct? 


MS. ELLIOTT:  If, in your scenario, you are saying that the peak day demand for this area was 200 TJs a day, that's the load that would have been allocated to Dawn Parkway costs in the rates, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you. So under that scenario, if 50 percent of this demand is served from Dawn, and 50 percent is served from firm deliveries at Parkway, for cost allocation purposes, would you use 100 TJs?  


MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't think we would have assumed the Parkway deliveries went to any particular delivery area in the allocation, no.


MR. QUINN:  If the entire system had a load of 200 TJs per day, if 200 units per day went through the Dawn Parkway system and all to the end of the system, and you had a -- the ability to serve 50 percent of that from Dawn and 50 percent of that from Parkway, for cost allocation purposes for in-franchise customers, would you use the 100 TJs per day, or 50 percent of the 200? 


MS. ELLIOTT:  Can you repeat what you are asking? 


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I changed it based upon your qualification because I am trying to simplify the scenario.


If the entire Dawn to Parkway system had a throughput that was required based upon in-franchise loads and all of it was taken off at 200 TJs per day at Parkway, if 50 percent of that demand was satisfied through deliveries from Dawn and 50 percent was satisfied with firm deliveries at Parkway, would you use 100 TJs as the allocator for the in-franchise allocation of costs? 


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the answer is no.  You are probably testing my memory on cost allocation, but we would take the 200 units of gas demand in the Burlington-Oakville area and those would be coming from Dawn.  So the distance weight would be from Dawn to the delivery area.


We would then credit -- to recognize the 100 coming in at Parkway, there would be a credit to the allocator for the 100 coming back and the distance that it would travel back the system.


So the allocator's distance weighted -- if the Parkway deliveries were firm obligated deliveries, the allocator would reduce the allocation factor by those deliveries for the distance that that load would meet.


MR. QUINN:  And when you say that distance, specifically what distance are you referring to? 


MS. ELLIOTT:  It would be based on the design day flows of that gas going back into the system.


MR. QUINN:  The distance between Dawn and the market area, or the distance between Parkway and the market area.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Parkway and the market area.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So if 100 percent of that demand or 200 TJs we are served firm at Parkway, there would be zero allocation of cost because there was no need to use the Dawn Parkway system?


MS. ELLIOTT:  If we were getting 100 percent of the demand at Parkway, there would be no Dawn Parkway system, right.


MR. QUINN:  Well, point taken.  But I mean you still have ex-franchise flows.  I was talking about in-franchise flows.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The 200 delivery at Parkway would get -- would credit the allocation factors by the distance it travelled.


MR. QUINN:  Netting off of a zero cost from Dawn to Parkway for how much gas actually flowed from Dawn to Parkway? 


MS. ELLIOTT:  It would -- yes, it would offset the demand on the Dawn Parkway system.


MR. QUINN:  So there would be zero cost because there is zero gas going from Dawn to Parkway? 


MS. ELLIOTT:  For the particular load that's delivered at Parkway. 


MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.  As opposed to taking it out of the hypothetical, let’s possibly add some more specificity to it.


Let's assume Union had contracts with TransCanada for 150 TJs from Niagara to the CDA to serve the Burlington- Oakville market.  Since the design day demand on the Dawn Parkway system for that area would be zero, would there be any cost associated to the Burlington-Oakville demand of 150? 


MR. REDFORD:  Well, there would have to be.  So if you went from Niagara to the CDA, and you had 150 TJs that by far exceeds the minimum summer loads specifically in the Burlington-Oakville system, that gas has got to go somewhere. 


So when we talk about operationalization of a proposal out of Niagara, that gas has got to get to the Dawn Parkway system.  It has got to travel to Dawn and then it's got to travel back into the market. 


So holding 150 a day has two issues.  One, the gas has nowhere to go and, two, it's not representative of the true cost of what that would be.


MR. QUINN:  Sir, I am going to go to the summer.  I was speaking on Union's design day demand for winter, so I thought the answer to the question would be -- and maybe I need the clarify for the record -- since the demand on the Dawn Parkway system is zero, no cost would be allocated to the Burlington-Oakville demand of 150; is that correct? 


MR. REDFORD:  I am saying we wouldn't do that.  I am saying that to take gas from Niagara into the CDA isn't possible, it's not -- you can't separate out summer and winter in that regard.  That gas has got to get somewhere in the summer or, if the winter load is less than 150, then that gas has got to get somewhere else.  There is no capacity in the system to eat that extra gas up. 



So you can't -- you have got to look at that proposal to come from Niagara, which we have done in our reply evidence.  We have looked at 94 TJs a day coming out of Niagara.  Some of that is going to have to travel on the Dawn Parkway system.  It's got nowhere else to go.  It's not -- it is not a realistic scenario.


MR. QUINN:  Sir, I know that's your position, and we at the end of the hearing may take a different position.  I am just trying to ask, because I was trying to take it out of the purely hypothetical into more of a realistic example.


With the premise that the demand is satisfied by 150 TJs in one way, shape, or form, would that -- would there be a design day demand on the Dawn Parkway system of zero and no cost allocated?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Maybe I can try here as well, but -- and the reason we have a Parkway obligation for our direct purchase customers is the capacity we gave them when they first went direct purchase was gas going from Empress to Parkway, basically.  When they got rid of those contracts over the last ten, 15 years we let them do that, but they had to still obligate to be at Parkway under deliveries in the wintertime especially, and we do that because for every -- to Mr. Quinn's point, for every GJ we get or TJ we get at Parkway means we don't have to build as much capacity between Dawn and Parkway.  As long as we know we have 100 percent obligation that it will arrive at wintertime, which is what their commitment is, so we have a lot of gas coming in at Parkway today that is obligated by our direct purchase customers.  That is why we do it.


But the fact that we save Dawn to Parkway costs, that's to the benefit of all of Union South.  It's not to the benefit of any one community, and that is why I go back to our gas supply principles are integrated around the whole of Union South.  We don't buy gas supply for Halton or Hamilton or Waterloo.  We buy it for the whole south at same cost.  It's one giant cost pool ending in allocated costs per pool.


The Parkway obligations do reduce their cost for sure.  That is why we do it.  But all of the Union South benefits, it's not Burlington, it's not Oakville, it's people in Windsor benefit as much as the person in Burlington or Oakville benefits.  It is the pool across all Union South.


MR. QUINN:  I am sorry, sir, I am mindful of the time, so I am just going to ask you a summary question.  If there was gas provided to Burlington-Oakville firm to that community from Niagara, not Dawn Parkway, would there be a credit resulting back to in-franchise ratepayers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  On the path that doesn't exist?  This is on the domestic line?


MR. QUINN:  This is gas that is provided to Burlington-Oakville not on the Dawn Parkway system, so to your point, the domestic line is the other alternative, yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So if the gas is not being transported Dawn to Parkway, then there is no cost being allocated in-franchise, but that would benefit all Union South, it wouldn't just benefit Burlington-Oakville.


MR. QUINN:  That's great, thank you.


I want to move forward to where Mr. Redford was taking us.  In the summer, if the Burlington-Oakville demand is only 15 TJs, the extra 135 TJs could be transported from Kirkwall to Dawn using existing capacity on the Dawn Parkway system; correct?


MR. REDFORD:  You would need to get that gas basically from the ECDA to Kirkwall.  So right now if you have a Niagara to ECDA contract or CDA contract that you are talking, you have no rights to Kirkwall.  So no firm rights to Kirkwall.  So it would be a diversion to Kirkwall to get that gas back to Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  Right.


MR. REDFORD:  Which is part of the reason why when you look in our reply evidence why we split the path, and it makes more sense to go Niagara to Kirkwall, Kirkwall to Parkway, Parkway down to the CDA, because otherwise the only other way to do that, you can't buy a CDA to Kirkwall contract.  The only way you could do it is to buy a Niagara to Kirkwall on top of the Niagara to CDA contract, and it's a -- basically, it's a double dip to get firm capacity to allow that gas to travel back to Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  Sir, you are getting into other areas that I wasn't asking about, so going back to my scenario.  In that scenario, where Burlington-Oakville demand is only 15 TJs and you have an extra 135, assuming TransCanada can transport the excess to Kirkwall, do you agree that Union has existing capacity on the Dawn Parkway system to get the gas to Dawn?


MR. KEIZER:  I think the witness has answered the question, and the answer was you can't do it under the scenario that my friend is proposing.


MR. QUINN:  Sir, that's not correct.  I asked the question that is a real-life scenario.


MR. KEIZER:  You assumed that you could get it by TransCanada to Kirkwall.  You wouldn't be able to do that unless you had diversions or otherwise.  So I think if you are going to say it's real life it should be real life.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, to Union's panel -- and I am not sure who would be the expert -- how often has Union got an interruption on a diversion that was headed for Kirkwall in the summer?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have never asked for a diversion to my knowledge.


MR. SHORTS:  But we have asked for diversions on other paths that are in the path and been denied those.


MR. QUINN:  In constrained paths in the winter, sir?


MR. SHORTS:  We have had paths in the winter, so for example, we have had the --


MR. QUINN:  I am dealing with summer, so --


MR. SHORTS:  I am just saying that in the winter, because the gas was flowing by, for example, when we take the Empress to the Union CDA contract and in the winter we plan to drop it off earlier, that gas is going by, we assumed for years we could drop that off and it would be firm.  TransCanada curtailed that, saying it was not -- it was not -- it was through a bottleneck and could not accommodate it.  So therefore, whether or not there is gas flowing by or not, TransCanada manages their system, calculates and determines their bottlenecks daily.  We do not know, summer, winter, whether or not diversions would be firm.


MR. QUINN:  That is why I am asking your experience, sir.  Specifically in the summer, have you had diversions cut by TransCanada at Kirkwall?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have never asked for a diversion at Kirkwall.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, from a pipe capacity point of view, do you see any physical restriction in your ability to get gas from Kirkwall to Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we have covered that off on your FRPO number 8 --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- interrogatory, so at this point in time we have already answered the question.


MR. QUINN:  But to my point -- the fundamental premise of my question was a summer question, and presuming that TransCanada could get the gas to Kirkwall.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So in our alternate proposal we have the gas showing up at Kirkwall on the TCPL system on a firm basis, and we have it going from Kirkwall to Dawn on Union Gas' system on a firm basis.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have the existing capacity to do that.


MR. QUINN:  I am challenged for time, and when I am asking summer, respectfully, you have gone to winter, so it is just going to confuse the record, so I am going to move forward.


Right now, now -- and I want to be clear about this -- currently Kirkwall is part of the CDA along with Burlington; is that not correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't think so.  I don't think it is, actually.  Kirkwall is not mentioned as a delivery point within the CDA.


MR. QUINN:  For the purposes -- okay.  You know, again, I am going to respect the time and move forward.


If -- sorry, in the winter, let's say Burlington-Oakville demand is 50 TJs, if you get an extra 100 TJs at Kirkwall from TransCanada, you can reduce the amount of gas you have to transport from Dawn to Parkway; is that not correct?  The original premise of the question was 150 TJs from Niagara, assuming TransCanada does provide it to Union at Kirkwall, you can then reduce the amount of gas you have to transport from Dawn to Parkway; is that not correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, I was just trying to follow the scenario.  Assuming the gas arrives at Kirkwall, and -- yes, it would reduce the amount we would have to transport to Dawn for the Burlington-Oakville area.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.


So there are three compressors between Dawn and Kirkwall; namely, Dawn, Lobo, and Bright; correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, between Dawn and Kirkwall?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. WALLACE:  Lobo and Bright, correct.


MR. QUINN:  Three compressors?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Compressor stations.


MR. QUINN:  Compressor stations.  Thank you, Mr. Isherwood.  So if less gas is being transported from Dawn to Kirkwall, less fuel would be required at these compressor stations; correct?


MR. WALLACE:  Yes, I would think so.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.


What I would like to do then is now move to questions that were in my compendium, is the letter that we started discussing this morning of June 19th, 2015, starting at page 42 of the compendium.  This is Union's response to OGVG questions, June 19.  The response in 1(c) says:

"There is no expected capital cost CB to flow additional volumes on the Niagara to Kirkwall to Parkway to Parkway to Union ECDA path.  TransCanada's toll is the same from Niagara-Chippewa to Union ECD whether choosing, one, TransCanada's domestic line from Niagara to Union CDA or, two, using the path from Niagara to Kirkwall on TransCanada Kirkwall to Parkway on  Union's Dawn Parkway system and then Parkway to Union ECD on TransCanada."


Now the response in (b) says:

"With the work that is currently done by Union TCPL at the Parkway site, no additional cost would be incurred to flow 276 TJs on the Niagara to Kirkwall to Parkway to Union ECDA path."


Do you understand this responsibility to mean that, if you contract with TransCanada for service from Niagara to the ECDA, you will have one contract and pay one toll for deliveries from Niagara to Burlington Gate and Bronte Gate?

MR. REDFORD:  I would say, yes, it does.  So whether TransCanada uses the domestic line -- and we have already talked about the fact that they are sold out on that path -- or they take their own system to Kirkwall and then our system to Parkway and then Parkway down to the UECDA, that would be the same toll.

MR. QUINN:  So you have answered it.  It is the same toll, sir?

MR. REDFORD:  It would be.

MR. QUINN:  In context, you have said we talked about that path being sold out.  I understand that's your position, and we have some undertakings to evaluate that.

So moving forward --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would just add to that.  The reason why our reply evidence doesn't do that is because you have to operationalize the volume from Niagara, so you would have to balance them on a day-to-day basis, summer to winter.

So by the fact you have to balance the load, you have to now take the volumes to Kirkwall first, because at Kirkwall, you have a choice.  In the summer, you go to Dawn to store it; in the winter, you take it to market.  But you can't take the full volume to the market in the summertime. The market is 20 a day or 30 a day, and you can't take 270 a day to a market that doesn't need it.

So you have so stop in Kirkwall and decide if are you going left or right, back to Dawn, or are you going back to the market.  In the summertime, it's back to storage, back to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  I think we heard your concern earlier, Mr. Isherwood, so I want to move forward.

I understood that you understand it would be the one contract.  You pay one toll for the deliveries from Niagara to Burlington and Bronte Gate; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  But, as Mr. Isherwood said, we couldn't contract that way with one contactor.  We would have to have a contract that would allow us to be able to get the volumes to Kirkwall and then to move that volume from Parkway to the Union ECDA.

So we would actually need the two contracts to be able to operationalize it, because we cannot afford to rely on the diversion, and, therefore, we cannot also rely on, for example, trying to buy a variable supply contract to try and also accommodate that.  As Mr. Leblanc said, you can't get a variable supply contract at Niagara; suppliers will not contract that to you.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, you are getting well beyond my realm. I'm sorry, but I am going to be a little bit over time.  I want to try to stick to the questions that we were asking, and I think some of the information you've provided is repetition from before.  So if there is enough capacity --


MR. KEIZER:  In fairness, I think the witness was answering the question.  The question was:  Would you have one contract, and the answer he gave was, no, you would have two contracts.  So I think it's unfair what my friend is saying about the witness; he answered the question fully.

MR. QUINN:  I will withdraw the way I have stated it.  I will move forward, hopefully staying on track.

Do you understand this response to mean that there is enough capacity on the existing TransCanada and Union systems to allow an additional flow of 276 TJs from Niagara to Burlington in November 2017?

MR. REDFORD:  That is the -- that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So let's take a look at the 135 TJ contract from Niagara -- from Kirkwall to Niagara.

You have talked about -- you plan to use this contract to serve the Hamilton area; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  By the 135 Kirkwall to Union CDA contract, it's not -- it doesn't go Kirkwall to Niagara; it goes Kirkwall to the Union CDA.  That contract does not actually allow for us to -- we first have to get that volume to Kirkwall.  So, for example, when we deliver the average volume of 21, we can't move that volume or reduce that 135.  So that 135 takes volumes that are delivered at Kirkwall by Union from Dawn or the Dawn Parkway system and then transports that volume into the Union CDA.

MR. QUINN:  So under this contract, you would plan to give gas to TransCanada at Kirkwall, and they have to deliver to Hamilton; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Hamilton and also the Dominion station as well, Kirkwall Dominion.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So do you plan to fully utilize this capacity in this contract each and every day of the year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's the capacity we need to serve a peak-day demand, as is our Parkway to CDA.  We talked about going to Burlington-Oakville; it's peak-day demand we are trying to serve.

MR. QUINN:  So do you plan to fully utilize the capacity each and every day of the year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

What is the minimum amount that you would use this contract for?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would use the same ratio we have been talking about in Burlington-Oakville.  I think it's 10 percent we would be using for minimum.

MR. QUINN:  Would it be fair to say, then, if it's 135, you would be using 14 as 10 percent?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Something like that.

MR. REDFORD:  Subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We will use 14 because it's 10 percent of the 135.

If you recall earlier, we talked about a hypothetical 150 TJs contract at Niagara.  Let's say the Burlington-Oakville market needs 15 TJs, so you have 135 access to transport to Kirkwall; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the assumption we are making -- and, again, TCPL charges you by the path you want.  So the 21 is going from Niagara to Kirkwall.  We would have to ask for a diversion for it to go to the Dominion station or Hamilton Gate 3.

So we would have a contract at Kirkwall for 135 to go the opposite direction.  I know that seems odd to have the gas kind of crossing paths, but TCPL does charge for the path that you want.

MR. QUINN:  And you have got contracts going in opposite directions.  Would that not provide you an opportunity to optimize those contracts?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is not much chance to optimize that in the middle of the summer.

MR. QUINN:  I mean optimize -- sorry, to reduce the quantity on one of the contracts respecting, as you said, Mr. Isherwood, you have got gas flowing in different directions.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If our peak day in the Hamilton Dominion area is 135, we need a contract to meet the peak day from Kirkwall to that area at 135.

MR. QUINN:  Could you not use the 21 from Niagara?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We cannot use that.  I just said the two go in opposite directions, and TCPL wants to charge you for both directions.

MR. QUINN:  But, specifically, sir, you have got 21 coming from Niagara; you have peak-day need on that path.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would potentially be able to take the capacity from Niagara to Kirkwall and then back into --using the 135.  Is that your question?

MR. QUINN:  My question is you have 135 coming from Niagara to Hamilton.  You've got 21 coming up from Niagara through Hamilton to Kirkwall.  Does that not afford you the opportunity to reduce one of the contracts?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. QUINN:  At the end of the term of the contracts?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. QUINN:  And help me understand why not.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  TCPL would charge you for both directions that you want to go.  So you want gas to go to Kirkwall, they will charge you for that direction.  If you want gas to go from Kirkwall in the opposite direction, you pay for that path as well.

So the two paths, they go in opposite directions.  You would contract for both and pay for both if you want to be able to meet your peak-day requirements, which, as a utility, we have that obligation.

MR. QUINN:  So is this different than how Union operates its system?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not at all.

MR. QUINN:  So does Union operate its system to meet aggregate demands?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of ex-franchise shipper, like an Enbridge shipper in our system?  If they wanted to go in both directions, they would pay to go in both directions.

MR. QUINN:  You are saying Union does not operate its system to meet each in-franchise customer's demand individually, but ex-franchise customers specifically you would contract for their demands in each direction?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The way we look at the customer in TCPL is the same as an ex-franchise customer looks to us.  We are a third party trying to buy a service on their pipeline.  If Enbridge wanted to go from Dawn to Parkway we would charge for that, and if they wanted to go from Parkway to Dawn we would charge for that.  We do have a service that combines both.  It is a premium service.  TCPL does not have a service that combines both, so you have to pay in both directions.


MR. REDFORD:  I think you need to consider too, Niagara to Kirkwall is a point-to-point service, whereas Kirkwall to the amended CDA is a service from a point to a delivery area.  And Kirkwall is not within the delivery area of the amended CDA.  That Niagara to Kirkwall contract is a point-to-point contract, and to use it in the amended CDA would require a diversion.


MR. QUINN:  Let me have a moment, please.


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.


MR. QUINN:  If I could ask you to turn up in your reply evidence Exhibit C, page 29, figure 5 of 5.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, the page, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Page 29.


MR. REDFORD:  Is that page 46 of the compendium?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. REDFORD:  Okay, thank you.


MR. QUINN:  So the response -- sorry, this shows the annual costs for the Burlington-Oakville pipeline as presented by Union.  The response to FRPO 10 provides the annual numbers that underpin this figure; is that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. QUINN:  So to meet the forecasted demand in 2017, if your application is approved, the total cost is 23.3; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's the total cost for purposes of comparing the alternatives.  But the incremental cost of the pipeline only is, I'd say 8.2- or $8.3 million.


MR. QUINN:  But the total cost to meet the forecasted demand -- to meet the forecast demand 2017 if your application is approved the total cost, though, is 23.3; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We have -- to compare the pipeline alternative to the alternate proposal we have included Dawn Parkway costs, we have included the 135 TJs a day Kirkwall capacity, as well as the pipeline.  The only cost that's incremental is the pipeline cost.


MR. QUINN:  But they are still costs that must be borne by the system and paid for by ratepayers; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Correct, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think it may be helpful if you can turn to page 41 of our compendium, and what we tried to do is put out in tabular form your responses to both FRPO 10 and FRPO 4(b).  Do you have that?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I have that.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the total costs assumes that all the demand in the Burlington-Oakville system is 210 TJs, will be met by using the pipeline proposed in this application; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Other than the 135 -- sorry, other than the 135 TJs per day from Kirkwall to CDA there is no other TransCanada costs assumed in this case; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if you look at the columns under FRPO 4(b), I have included the costs to account for the two transportation contracts; namely, the 11 TJs from Empress to ECDA and 21 TJs from Niagara to Kirkwall.


Do you agree that if you have a contract with TransCanada for 11 TJs from Empress to ECDA you will need to move 11 TJs on the Dawn Parkway system or the proposed Burlington-Oakville pipeline?


MR. SHORTS:  Could you repeat that, please?


MR. QUINN:  Do you agree that if you have a contract with TransCanada for 11 TJs per day from Empress to the ECDA that you will not need to move 11 TJs per day on the Dawn to Parkway system or the proposed Burlington-Oakville pipeline?


MR. SHORTS:  Again, we are mixing sort of gas supply and meeting peak day.  That 11 Empress to CDA contract is to meet the aggregate average day demand of Union South, and as I mentioned earlier, we are likely not going to keep that contract going forward, because we do not require that to, A), meet the original requirements that Mr. Isherwood said.  We do not keep it -- need it to keep it to meet our 85,000 of the settlement agreement, because our system has changed.  Our expectation is that we will now move that 11 TJ a day contract to become a Parkway to ECDA to keep those two meters open for an emergency purpose only.


MR. QUINN:  Sir, you have talked about what you may do in the future.  I understand it's an ongoing process to look at your system, but in 2017/'18, under the responses you gave us in FRPO (b), it was your evidence -- it's your response that gave us the 11 TJs from Empress to ECDA.


MR. SHORTS:  Again, that Empress to CDA contract is not being used to meet a peak day requirement, it's being used to meet the average annual requirement of Union South.


MR. QUINN:  But it can be used for meeting a peak day requirement; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But to Mr. Shorts --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I was asking is that correct, you can use it to --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If we were keeping it we could use it.


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. REDFORD:  I will point out that we did not include that contract in our alternative evaluation at tab 7 -- Exhibit A, tab 7, and for many of the reasons that Mr. Shorts said.  We don't expect to hold that contract long-term, and certainly that term is getting shorter and shorter with some of the changes.


So right back to the beginning of right in our evidence we never included that contract because we never believed that we would hold it for very long, and that's -- that is coming to fruition.


MR. QUINN:  It is in your 2017/'18 plan, though.  That is the response you gave us, and I understood it can be used, so that is accurate?


MR. SHORTS:  For that one year, it is still in the play.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So do you agree that you can use the Niagara to Kirkwall to serve Burlington-Oakville demand?


MR. SHORTS:  No, we already had gone down this road, where we stated that you cannot assume that we can use that 21-a-day contract to serve Burlington-Oakville demand.  That would require a diversion on TransCanada, and that's not a firm service, it's interruptible, and we cannot rely on that, and we would not rely on that.


MR. QUINN:  Have you asked TransCanada if you can change this contract from Niagara to the ECDA?


MR. SHORTS:  That was a long-term contract that we entered into, to again move annual average volume on Union south.  We have not done -- we would not have requested that because that was not our intent and not our use for that contract.


MR. QUINN:  At the time, that was not the intent and use, and I respect that.  But I guess my question is have you gone back to TransCanada to say can this contract be Niagara to ECDA? 


MR. SHORTS:  It still has to go to Kirkwall then on the Parkway, so that contract still is going go that path.


MR. QUINN:  And again, I ask the question.  Did you go back the TransCanada the ask if it could be converted from Niagara to ECDA as the delivery point.


MR. SHORTS:  No, we did not.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The answer is no, and there was no need to, for the reasons Mr. Shorts said.


MR. QUINN:  If you use both TransCanada contracts to serve Burlington-Oakville demand in 2017, do you agree that the total cost would be $31.8 million? 


MR. SHORTS:  We have already stated that we do not use those contracts in that manner.  Therefore, we would not add those to the cost of the alternatives.


Those two contracts have nothing to do with meeting the peak day requirements in the Burlington-Oakville area or this project.


MR. QUINN:  But Mr. Isherwood said the 11 TJs could be used, and we dispute with you -- and I respect that, whether the capacity is or is not available.


But if they were used, and that was the premise of my question, the cost would be $31.8 million?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree that the math -- adding that column together comes to 31.79, but I don't agree with the proposal. 


MR. QUINN:  And the aspects of the proposal you have already provided an answer to, and I guess we will leave that for argument.


So the total cost of the proposed pipeline alternative in that scenario would be $8 million higher than was provided in the response to FRPO 10; is that correct? 


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will take your math, subject to check.


MR. QUINN:  Now I just wanted to cover off the ECDA, which has been discussed in some length, and I think -- I didn't put this in my compendium, but because it's been brought up, if we could turn up BOMA 4.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Which BOMA 4? 


MR. QUINN:  Oh, I am sorry.  B BOMA 4.  Thank you for the clarification, B BOMA 4, B as in Bob. 


Now BOMA had asked about this Union ECDA, and I want the start at a high level first. The Union ECDA did not -- does not exist currently, first off.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  The Union ECDA was a result -- one of the results of the mainline settlement agreement, correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  So it is basically a condition in that agreement that is also tied to the approval and construction of the Burlington-Oakville pipeline, correct? 


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is very similar to the 135.  It is explicit in the settlement agreement that if Burlington- Oakville gets build, then the CDM Union has will be divided into two smaller areas and the Parkway point.


It does not talk about what happens if that does not get build.


MR. QUINN:  In that way, you would have to go back to TransCanada and discuss delivery areas full of pipe and contracting as a result?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the breaking up of Union CDM into three pieces is actually more beneficial operationally to the TCPL. So I would expect them to come to us.


MR. QUINN:  So the two parties would need to talk? 


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Based on the evidence in-chief that Union will provide tomorrow, the last of my questions are not necessary at this juncture.


So those are my questions for today, and thank you for your indulgence.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Next is Schools, Mr. Rubenstein.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel -- good afternoon. 


MR. REDFORD:  Good afternoon. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I prepared a compendium.  I am not sure if the panel has it?


MR. MILLAR:  So that is K1.3.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Quinn asked a number of questions and your responses to a number of those questions have cleared up a number of the areas I want to talk to.


But first, I just want to understand something.   Union, in the ordinary course, am I correct, doesn't profit off supply and transportation decisions that it makes for its customers.  Those are pass-through costs.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As long as they are properly incurred.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the premise is you don't profit off those.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No profit; right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that’s different for infrastructure, am I correct?  Your shareholder will receive money as it earns a return on that invested capital?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So under the Ms. Cheung's alternative no-build proposal, since there is no new facilities being built and it simply calls for different set of supply and transportation decisions, Union would not earn a return.


There would be no profit that it could get from serving the Burlington and Oakville area using her proposal.  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In a no-build situation, Union would not earn the incremental revenue from the return on capital invested.  But ratepayers would also not benefit from the savings either. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fair. I want to understand some of the supply issues that may arise regarding the alternative no-build proposal.  And I know was a lot of debate in the IRs this morning about how much gas the alternative proposal requires to be sourced at Niagara, and the issues that comes with that in your perspective.


I want to understand what is the minimum that would need to be procured to meet the incremental needs in the Burlington and Oakville area from Niagara, based on Ms. Cheung’s proposal.


Beginning in 2017, what would be the minimum amount that you believe would need to be procured from Niagara?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is a tough question, because TCPL has confirmed that they can provide the capacity we need from Parkway to the delivery area, and that would be the path we would take.


If Burlington-Oakville project were not built, we would contract on TransCanada for the capacity and use our Dawn based integrated supply we have in other parts of our franchise.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you wouldn't actually need to procure the gas from Niagara?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have no need to go to Niagara for this -- we would never link supply to a city or town or a village.  We buy supply on an integrated basis is for all of Union south, and that gets distributed across all Union south equally and they take advantage of the pool of supply we have.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if the Board accepts Mr. Cheung's proposal -- and I recognize clearly Union doesn't support that.  But if that is what the Board thinks is a better way, you wouldn't actually need to procure any gas in 2017 at Niagara, in addition to what you have already procured?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If all we are buying is incremental then -- I forget their number, but it's 4 or 5 TJs a day; it grows incrementally.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me understand.  We have had a lot of discussion about the problems, and I will ask you some questions specifically about that after -- but the problems about procuring gas at Niagara and the lack of liquidity.


Would I be correct that 4 or 5 TJs, that amount you could probably procure, versus 276 for the maximum that you would need in 2035 under their proposal, potentially?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess the tougher question is when does it become a problem, right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I haven't got -- you know, there is not a line in the sand saying at this point, it becomes a problem.


But generally speaking, it’s the point that it’s not liquid, and because we have to pass a prudency test, we would not -- we would not recommend at this juncture that we buy a lot of -- any more new gas at Dawn -- or Niagara Falls, but to your point, does 5 break the bank, probably not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you can't help us, or help me and help the Board understand what is the point where this becomes a problem that you will not be able to procure the supply that you need?


MR. REDFORD:  I just wanted to clarify something.  You asked about the incremental gas that was required at 2017, and you mentioned Ms. Cheung's proposal, the alternate proposal.  So I wonder, are you saying that we keep all the assets that we have today and then incremental, are you saying as her proposal said you move basically everything to Niagara?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I want to understand -- let me back up for a second just so we can -- to clarify.  I want to understand under a no-build option Ms. Cheung has provided a proposal to do that.  You have provided an operationalized version of it.  I am just trying to understand, because when we talked about the 276 demand that's in 2035, am I correct, I want to understand at the beginning 2017, which would be the year that --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But there is a no-build option on the table, and it's one where TCPL would provide the full 276 coming from Parkway, so that's a no-build option as well, and that would be our next best after not building our own pipe.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And based on your -- and this is one of the commercial alternatives that you considered.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.  And it was assumed -- in our evidence it was assumed that it was available, and TCPL has confirmed it is available, and as Mr. Shorts pointed out, we do have that -- some capacity from TCPL, even this next winter.


MR. REDFORD:  So if the market is 210 TJs a day in 2017, and it's either going to be 210 under Ms. Cheung's proposal or, if we serve 54 off the Dawn Parkway system, that number is 156 TJs a day, so assuming that we don't use any of the other assets and everything comes from Niagara, then we would start at 156 TJs in 2017.  That would ramp up to 222 TJs by 2035, and again, that assumes that we served the 54 through the 8-inch Milton line and the 12-inch Parkway line.


So I think Mr. Isherwood was referring to the increments between 2017 --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just the growth.


MR. REDFORD:  -- and -- that's right, the growth component, but we would -- we would -- under that proposal we would start with a larger number.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the 156 --


MR. REDFORD:  Yes, and then it would grow to 222.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.


Now, one of your criticisms of the proposal is that you say it moves up to 77 percent of your Union South supply portfolio away from Dawn.  Am I correct about that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we have just included that on page 4 and 5 -- sorry, on page 2 and 3 of our compendium that's under 2(a).  That's your comment there.  And then on page 4 and 5 you show the chart, the January 2015 south portfolio, and then on page 5, this is the 77 you are talking about?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that how you determined that calculation is you took the 276 TJ, which is the 2035 Burlington to Oakville demand, and you divided by your entire upstream supply as of 2015 of 360?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me that 276 is your forecast design day requirement in 2035, not 2015?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's really not an apples-to-apples comparison.  Would I be -- is that fair?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think that's fair.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So your Union South supply portfolio is likely to be greater in 2035 than it is in 2015.  I think we asked you a question about that and you -- on page 6, and this is SEC 7 -- but you weren't able to provide what your expectation is of the total supply portfolio in 2035; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And so all the evidence is very focused -- micro-focused on Burlington-Oakville, so that number is available, but the bigger, broader system is not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But then if we're looking on an apples-to-apples basis --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Different years.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- less than 77 percent.  We'd expect that the supply -- the Union South supply would be greater.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree it would be less if you did the math, but it is still going to be a very large number.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now -- and am I correct based on your operationalized version of the alternative proposal you believe the better way to do it would be to source from Niagara the average day?  Am I correct?  The average day for the Burlington to Oakville area?


MR. REDFORD:  That's the way we looked at it.  Instead of taking 276 and trying to work it, we said what if we assume the average day, and at 94 TJs, which is more consistent with how we buy gas.  We buy gas for the average day.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that 2015, 360 number is really that.  You are using the average.  Am I correct?  That's how you supply -- that's how you source your supply is on an average day basis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, we take the total annual demand and divide by 365 to get that number.  It's an average daily demand in our franchise.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the 360 TJs in 2015 of supply that you bring in on a firm basis, that is based on the average, your average daily demand, correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So wouldn't the more accurate comparison to be making here is the 94 TJs a day, which is the average day based on your operationalized version versus the 360?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Versus 276, you mean?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, versus the 360.  If you think that's the average supply --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Oh, so we would agree that if we're going to buy at Niagara for this local community, then you would be buying the 90 number, not the 276, but we are just responding to the evidence from Ms. Cheung that she thought we should be buying 276, which, we wouldn't do that.  We would recommend buying the 94.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we used your operationalized -- and I am trying to understand what's being moved away from Dawn based on your operationalized proposal -- or, sorry, alternative, definitely not your proposal.  I understand that.  The better comparison would be taking the 94, which is the average, to serve the Burlington-Oakville, and dividing that over the total aggregate Union South average that --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of finding out what portion of supply.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Would you --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So 94 divided by the 360.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be a different pie chart for sure.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree -- and would you take it subject to check -- that's about 26 percent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Fair enough.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree further that the 94 is the average -- is an average of the averages?  Am I correct?  So in 2017 it's less than 94 would be the average demand for the Burlington-Oakville area.  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We are trying to find out what year 94 was based on.  So 94 is based on the same year as the 276.  It is just the average demand instead of the peak demand.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if I look at -- on page 22 of our compendium, this is the attachment 2 from FRPO 10.  I just look at line 13 under 2016.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, which line?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I am on line 13.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Under 2016 the average day would be 70.2.  Am I reading that table correctly?


MR. REDFORD:  I think you are reading that correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then would you agree with me the best comparison we have would be taking the 70.2, which is in 2016, and dividing it by the total average in 2015, which is the 360, based on the numbers that we have on the record?  Do you agree with me of an apples-to-apples comparison of what would be moved from Dawn to Niagara?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So if you do the operational situation or scenario in 2016, that would be the number.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would take --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Divide that by the 360.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You'd take it subject to check that's 19 percent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about that, because you talk about in the evidence about moving all this supply from Dawn to Niagara is not in the best interests of your consumers, and you talk -- but you use the number at 77 percent.


If we are moving 19 percent, if 19 percent of your supply is moved to Niagara, would the same concerns that you have about moving supply away from Dawn in the reply evidence still valid?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think that the basic -- the basic concern that we have is we are trying to do a supply solution to help solve the problem -- all we are really trying to do is reinforce a distribution system in Burlington-Oakville that needs more capacity, so it's a transmission project to try and get more capacity into Burlington-Oakville, and we are confusing the whole picture by Niagara supply.  But if we had to expand into Hamilton, we would need to buy Niagara supply for that, or into London, we'd need to buy Niagara supply for that.


It's my view it’s a little bizarre; we are mixing apples and oranges.


The way we serve Burlington-Oakville today is from Parkway.  So even all these options that we have here, we have taken the proposed alternative and downsized it to make it more reasonable, and that still has a higher cost than the proposal we are making.

So looking at the map, when you bring in Niagara supply, it comes into Kirkwall.  It either goes to Dawn and comes back in the winter, or goes directly the market.  All that gas still gets to Parkway, and our project is not so much worried about upstream of Parkway.  Our project is comparing from Parkway to the CDA.  Do you build a pipeline that is cheaper and provides other benefits for long term growth, or do you buy a service from TransCanada.

And in every case we have evaluated, it is better for the ratepayer to build the service, to build the pipe.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Isherwood, I understand your view on the alter -- Ms. Cheung's alternative proposal.  But I just want to focus on this specific question because in your reply evidence, one of the main criticisms is the moving away under her proposal from Dawn to Niagara, and I want to understand:  If it's only about 19 percent that is now Niagara, are the same comments you made with respect to moving up to 77 percent still valid? 

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, some of the issues go away.  You know, we talked about vertical slice and obligations.  You know, if you are down to 15 or 20 percent, those concerns go away.  But we still have concerns about Niagara being non-liquid.  We still have concerns about mixing supply and demand, basically.  And we still have the same conclusion that once all that gas gets to Parkway through all these different combinations, the question is still arises: do you build or do you buy from Parkway to CDA.

And whether that is 70 day, 90 day, or 276, it's the same question.  All that gas gets to Parkway, and do you build or buy.  For me, it's really that simple.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about that, the build or buy.  Putting aside the numbers or the cost of which one is cheaper and which one -- I just want to understand conceptually, because you talked about how you would rather own the pipe than contract from a third-party to provide capacity.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me explain why that would be the case?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will give you the most recent example in my mind, which is vivid still.  But in 2011, when TransCanada asked us to contract for capacity to pay for the path we were otherwise using for free, we determined we needed to contract in total 140.  We already had 60 flowing on the path, so we needed incrementally 80 more. 

And this is after several months of discussion with TransCanada, we needed 80 more and they had been pushing us to contract.  So we contract for 80, and they come back saying, well, you have can have 16 of that on a renewable basis, and 64 of it, you can only have for one year.  And that puts us into the secondary market, which our evidence goes through that in great detail.  It became very expensive and was one of the reasons we started looking at build where you have full control.

When you build, you lock-in the cost in 2016 dollars.  The pipe is not fully utilized; it gets fuller as time goes on.  The more gas that flows through it, the cheaper it gets per unit.  So costs actually get better.  It's a better options on as time goes on for ratepayers, instead of relying on a third party.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct you purchase third-party -- you have supply on third-party contracts all the time, either Empress to your service territory upstream of Dawn, am I correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But not – we don't typically rely on third-party services in our Southern franchise.  We don't need to; we have a very well developed infrastructure in the southern part of the province.

So to rely on TransCanada or a marketer for a service, it became very expensive.  And I know TCPL is saying they can provide the service, but 40 years is a long time.  And they just spent three years where they couldn't and it cost our ratepayers a lot of money.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  I want to talk about liquidity for a moment, because there a lot of discussion about that and I know there is a lot of discussion in the Nexus technical conference.

But I want to just understand from a practical perspective what does that mean.

And you provided a chart, and I have included on page 7 of our compendium, of what you call measures of liquidity.  You have the average daily traded volumes and the average number of daily transactions.  And I just want to understand what these numbers represent.

Am I right that by daily transactions, you are talking about either new purchases at Niagara, or new swaps, or spot purchases, or other secondary market transactions.  But what you are not talking about is parties taking custody of gas at Niagara from another party for whatever reason, based on an existing contract.

That wouldn't reveal itself in these tables; am I correct?

MR. SHORTS:  These again are reported average trades. So for example, the top chart talks about average daily traded volumes.  So that would be all transactions that were reported to Platts that took place at Niagara.  So that would be anyone that purchased volume at Niagara or anybody that did a secondary market transaction at Niagara.

Anything that was a trade that was reported would show up there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just to be clear what you mean when you talk about trades.  You are talking about a purchase that would have occurred that day, but does it also include purchases that are based on a long-term contract?

So if you are taking custody of gas at Niagara based on some upstream contract you have – let’s say the 21 TJs that you have, that wouldn't show up on this.  Am I correct?

MR. SHORTS:  It shows up if you are a reporting party that does that.  The problem you have is not every party reports all of their transactions to, say for example, Platts.  But the beauty of Dawn is that because it's so liquid, we know that there’s parties that aren't showing their Dawn numbers as well, and there’s parties that aren't showing their Niagara numbers as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would it be fair to say then a few Things.  The first would be where it says “average daily traded volumes”, in fact there are more volumes that flow through Niagara than the numbers that are showing at that -- on that table.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The volumes flowing are approximately 400 TJs a day, approximately right now, and it's going to go up much higher starting November 1, ‘15 and ’16.

So this is more around the number of trades.

MR. SHORTS:  And again, why we show the number of trades and why that's important is because what you expect so see is any time there is more trades, that means there is more sellers, that means there’s more competition, and that would be there would be better prices.

And that is why this is one component of liquidity.  I mean, liquidity is all about creating the ease and the ability to transact an efficient gas purchase.  And the more seller there are, the more transparent the market is going to be as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just to go back to the chart, so then when you say 400,000 – sorry, you said 400 TJs goes through Niagara on a daily basis, roughly?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Typically between 350 and 400.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's the 400,000 GJs, if I have the conversion right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The only amounts that are traded based on the description that you provided, or any information that -- or more specifically, the people who report is a small -- very small fraction of that.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And the reason for that is people, marketers primarily today, are taking gas from Niagara and they bought transportation on TransCanada, and on Union, and other pipelines potentially, and they are moving the gas away from Niagara because it's not a liquid point for them to sell.

So they prefer the take it Parkway, to Iroquois, to Dawn, somewhere -- anywhere else but Niagara.

MR. REDFORD:  And that gas may not show up as trade because that marketer may be back to back with a producer out of the Marcellus.  So for instance, you might get a marketer that has an agreement with a producer to sell gas in the Enbridge CDA, for instance.  That is where the gas is traded and they would have an arrangement for cost recovery of that.

So there is a lot of different – you know, just because it flows through, it may be traded at other points and it may switch parties.  It's not necessarily really a trade at that point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my recollection of the discussions -- Mr. Shorts was there at the Nexus proceeding, and one of the issues that was talked about by Union about why you don't want to – there’s problems bringing in gas at Niagara was liquidity, but also suppliers don’t -- it's very hard to actually get the supply.  Am I correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So putting aside the liquidity issue, I just want to understand from the supply issue.

So when we are talking buying all this gas and given your operationalized model, do you think you going to be able to source 94 TJs of gas, or 276 TJs of gas, or 70 TJs which would be the operationalized amount in 2016? 

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I am not sure it's really a question of could we source it physically, but what would we end up paying for that.

Because, as I’ve mentioned before, when we contract a significant incremental amount at Niagara, our expectation is that that would charge the pricing characteristics that we are currently seeing in the market today.

So, for example, when I have spoken to producers who have capacity from the Marcellus to the US border into Canada and to Dawn, and I specifically ask them, well, can I buy that gas from you at Niagara, they basically tell me no. 

They do not want to sell it to me at Niagara; they want to sell it to me at Dawn.  They do not want -- they do not want to make that transaction at that illiquid point.  They want to get to a point that is going to provide them with a better chance for a competitive value on their gas supply.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The other number that is out in the market -- it might may even be in evidence -- but I think between – in 2012, the 400,000 was contracted.  And '15 and '16 marketers and producers have stepped up to get more capacity to either market or go back to Dawn, so the number we are expecting by the end of 2016 is to be approaching a TJ of gas a day moving away from Niagara to Kirkwall and going to -- either to market or back to Dawn, so people that are showing up at Niagara are trying to get away from Niagara because they don't like the pricing at Niagara, they don't like the conditions at Niagara, they are trying to get back to Dawn or to other liquid markets.


MR. REDFORD:  Or perhaps not even to Niagara, so just because a producer holds capacity to Niagara doesn't necessarily mean they are going to move their gas to Niagara, and the best example of that is that there is 800 -- about 800 TJs a day right now that is moving to Niagara and Chippewa.  Only 400 of that comes into Canada.  The other 400 is sold within National Fuel Gas and Empire System at places like Lysander and in New York state, where there is a better market, so the producers will take that gas to where the best market is, where the premium market is, so just because they hold capacity to Niagara doesn't necessarily mean gas will always come to Niagara.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if I understand the alternative proposal, it's less about gas supply savings than it is about just acquiring the gas at Niagara for the purposes of not building.  Am I correct?  Is that your understanding as well?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I know there was some discussion about differentials today, but the evidence before --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And when we operationalize the Niagara option, though, it becomes a more expensive option.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But putting that aside for a moment, we can discuss about the costs, that's your understanding.  It's not about the gas supply savings.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's not about the gas supply savings.  It's about the fact that there's a perception that Niagara is the place to buy gas today and we're saying for Union Gas it's not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understood from your comments today that you could probably -- and Mr. Shorts' comments a few moments ago -- you could probably get the gas, just what you are going to pay for it, and it may be a very high amount.


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we expect to see those changes start to happen this winter with the infrastructure that's being built and the contracts that have been contracted for.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when you -- I know it's hard to sort of forecast what these costs are for obvious reasons, but do you expect that it's going rise to what the price is at Dawn or significantly higher than the prices are at Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Historically Niagara has traded higher than Dawn.  That is when Niagara was an export point.  It is now an import point, so I would expect it to maybe trade potentially a bit below Dawn, because it takes -- it costs money to go from Niagara to Dawn, so you would expect that Niagara should be discounted to Dawn, but I have talked to people in the last few weeks.  They may see it go back above Dawn again, so we'll have to wait and see.  It is kind of -- it is new point, so we still want to kind of see where it stabilizes and where it all shakes out.


But the days of deep discount I think are gone.  I think producers and marketers have bought capacity to take it away from Dawn to better markets.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so that's with respect to getting the upstream --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Niagara, sorry.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- based on the liquidity question, if you are able to secure a, you know, supply at Niagara on the long-term basis, why does the liquidity matter then for...


MR. SHORTS:  Liquidity matters because, again, it's all about having more buyers and seller so that you know you have got a competitive price that you are paying.  I think about -- I hate to use an example, but I think about EBay.  You know, when I go on EBay and I am looking at a product, and if there is 100 sellers, I know I am going to be able to get that price that I probably want, and it's going to be in a fairly narrow range.


If, for example, there is a product I want but there is only two or three people there that are actually selling it, chances are I am not going get the price I want or the variation between, say, the high and the low is going to be quite wide.


The same happens in gas.  I mean, if I look at all of the points we guy gas at today and I compare when we go out for an RFP to fill those supplies, when I look at the high price and the low price of all of the bids that we get, I should say 2012, when Niagara starting to come the other way, what we see is that the average difference between that high and low is about five cents for just about all the other basins we buy in, but when you look at Niagara, that variation, because of the illiquid nature, has been more like 25 cents.  It's five times everywhere else, and it creates a non-competitive and a non-efficient market, and when there is more competitors, there is more options, there is more price transparency, you get a better -- you know you are going to get a more competitive value for your gas or a better deal for your gas.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  If I can ask you to turn to page 12 and 13 of our compendium, and I just want to -- these are the two charts based on your comparison of the operationalized alternative Burlington to Oakville pipeline and the -- and then the same without the Kirkwall contract is the $8.25 million; am I correct?  For the 135 TJs?  Am I correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me that that amount makes a big difference in the comparisons?


MS. ELLIOTT:  When you remove the 135 TJ contract at TransCanada -- or at Kirkwall, the build option is more expensive until, I think it's 2029 where it flattens out and the buy option gets more expensive.  The net present value still favours the build option.  It's $5 million less --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if you --


MS. ELLIOTT:  -- than the buy option over the 40 years.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if you include it it's never cheaper.


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's never cheaper --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just --


MS. ELLIOTT:  -- doing both.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to understand that one piece then to make sure.  And I know it's been discussed a lot, and I am wondering if you can walk me through what we are talking about here.  My understanding from the evidence and the testimony today -- and it is maybe not exactly clear -- under the settlement agreement, you are required to -- you will not pay for the 135 TJs.  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, in the settlement agreement we are agreeing to contract for that path and pay for that path.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you will pay for that path.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And historically you haven't paid for that path.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the question is, if there's no -- since the settlement agreement -- don't want to say premise, but it -- that part, I guess, includes some understanding that it would go forward.  The question is, well, what happens if there is no Burlington to Oakville?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Exactly, and that was my opening statement, was really my expectation is TCPL would expect us to pay for that, and the settlement agreement is not clear.  It doesn't address the fact what happens if it doesn't happen.  It assumes it does happen -- sorry, it being Burlington-Oakville.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it's your understanding under that settlement agreement that there is nothing in it that either requires them to charge you or allows you not to be charged.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In the case of --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If there is no --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- not happening --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- to Oakville, yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And that was my point this morning, is that the NEB would expect TCPL to maximize revenues, and they'll provide a free service to anybody.  I think shippers -- all shippers would expect Union Gas and themselves to be paying the full cost of service that they take on TransCanada and their own shareholder, because the earnings sharing would expect TCPL to maximize the revenue and charge and provide no free service.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why historically were you not charged?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no idea.  It goes way back in history.  But you know, the Parkway was the same way.  In 2011 TCPL came to us and said, "You guys are taking a free service.  You need to step up and pay for service on the Parkway to CDA path," and we did, and Kirkwall is exactly the same as that, and why Parkway was that way I have -- you know, there is lots of history there.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I can take you to page 13, and I recognize this is without the Kirkwall contract, and you agree that that should be included.  But I just want to use a hypothetical that the Board believes that that amount wouldn't be charged by TransCanada, and I want to look at these numbers and understand that.


And what I see is the alternative proposal as you have operationalized it is cheaper up until, I believe it's 2028, so the first 12 years, and then it becomes more expensive.  Is my understanding correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That is correct, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can you help me understand, when I look at this it just seems to me that isn't -- if you don't -- if you are looking at these numbers the response is you do the operationalized alternative version until that point in time and then you build the pipeline in 2028; is that a fair reading?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  I think that is what that chart would say, but from the point of view of why build now is really I think the question you are asking, and there is a few reasons.  First and foremost, it's economic to our customers.  They saved $2.9 million in year one, and that gets better, so there is no reason to wait to build.


Secondly, from a point of view of building, the project costs $119.9 million.  It is partly that cost, because buildings in urban area, but that cost would only go up if for no other reason inflation, so it becomes more expensive to build by waiting two years, one year, 12 years.


The other option, or the other thing that we think about is, we tried initially to go down the Trafalgar Road, and the local city municipality had issues with us doing that, so we moved our pipeline over to 9th Line, and it's really because of urban growth, and we are comfortable and confident that we can get the easements established and built next summer.  By waiting five years to 12 years, we had no confidence with urban growth in that area.  We saw what TCPL has recently gone through in Vaughan.  They are trying to build a pipeline for 2015 through Vaughan, and the developers obviously got quite excited when TransCanada started to cross what appeared to be empty lots, but soon to be developed land.  So the developers got quite involved.  So we see a window now.  We have it -- the path established results in economic project, and it locks in the costs for our ratepayers for the next 40 years in 2016 dollars, which are very economic.


So, for us, it is not a matter of let's wait and see.  It is economic.  We need to proceed.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you see if there are any benefits of waiting?  You just talked about the reasons why you shouldn't.  Are there benefits on the other side?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is the fastest growing area in our franchise, and I think it's probably maybe even the fastest growing in Canada.  So we need to -- we need to create incremental capacity, and building a pipeline is a way of doing that.  And as I mentioned, it has benefits to build now and not wait.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But are there any benefits of waiting?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not aware of any.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You wouldn't agree that -- you would agree with me that the pipeline dynamics in Ontario have substantially changed in the last five years?  You would agree with me?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I look at this, again, as being a transmission line to reinforce a growing distribution city, or two cities -- three cities, if you include Milton.  So all I go back to is it's simply a line from Parkway to reinforce growth -- urban growth in three cities, and it becomes a buy or build.  So whether we buy gas at Niagara or buy gas at Dawn or buy gas wherever, in middle of Marcellus, it still comes down to a buy or build from Parkway.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just briefly quickly finish up by asking about your operationalized version of the alternative no build.  Putting aside the cost issue, which from these charts I recognize you think regardless is more expensive, does it solve other issues that you raised in your reply evidence with the problems with Ms. Chang's proposal?


MR. REDFORD:  Well, I see there are still a number of issues with it.  One of which is we are putting supply at Niagara to meet a design-day need in the Burlington-Oakville market, and we are attributing, basically, that gas supply to what amounts to about, you know, one-tenth of the peak demand in Union South.  So I would start by saying it's a difficult -- I mean it's a very difficult comparison to make because it's not really realistic to say this is all for Burlington-Oakville.


Other pieces with it, we are still -- we would still have to rely on TransCanada.  We would -- much of the gas would flow from Parkway to the Union ECDA.  We would miss the opportunity to reinforce that system when we have a window to do so.  So I think, you know, as for many of the reasons that Mr. Isherwood went through, I think we would miss those opportunities.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Rubenstein.


I think it would be a good time now to take a 15-minute break, and we will resume at 3:25 to what would hopefully be a short session to complete the proceedings for today.  So 3:25, thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:13 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:28 p.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated, thank you.


I think the next is Staff, OEB Staff?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you Mr. Chair.


We have just heard -- you will see VECC is on the schedule.  I believe we have now heard from them, and they will not have questions of this panel, so you are correct, I am next.  And you will be happy to hear that almost all of my questions have been answered.  But just one issue I would like to review with the panel, if I might, and good afternoon, panel, Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.


You will see on your screen I have pulled up the interrogatory response from CME OGVG, so this was the -- these were the interrogatories on the intervenor evidence, not your evidence, but there was just something I wanted to go over with you quickly just to understand Union's views on this.


And you will see it's the response to Staff Interrogatory No.5, and we asked some questions -- we note that the evidence provided by the intervenors is sort of a high-level economic analysis and is not purported to be a comprehensive economic evaluation, rather it demonstrates that further investigation is merited, and we took that from the intervenor evidence.


And then you will see in question (b) we asked what further investigation is required, and if we could scroll down to the next page, you will see that (b) refers to (a), and then if you look at the paragraph immediately above (b), which is the last paragraph in the response to (a), if that's clear, it states:

"Based on a high-level cost comparison OGVG CME believes that no-build alternative can provide significant cost savings.  In that regard OGVG believes the Board should reject the current application and direct Union to do three things."


So I took this to sort of be the ask from CME OGVG, and it's to prepare a proper cost comparison, develop a contracting strategy, and to submit an application to the Board for approval.  And I just wanted to review with you how that would play out if that were to happen.


So assume for the purposes of this question that OGVG and CME are successful in their arguments and the Board believes that the no-build alternative is the way to go and orders the three things that CME OGVG suggest here.


Could you give me some assistance at what sort of timing would be involved in that sort of approach?  Why don't we start with that.  What would you have to do to make this happen?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess from Union's perspective we would argue that the reply evidence that we filed actually addresses that.  It addresses a proper cost comparison.  We went to great lengths in terms of operationalizing, if you want, the alternative being proposed from Niagara.  I think our evidence talks about why we don't have to have an FT strategy from Niagara.  It's not the place we want to be.


So we would argue, I think, and maybe it's more argument than it is my answer, but we would argue that the application we have before the Board is a proper application and --


MR. MILLAR:  I understand that, and I don't think --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is the buy versus build.  It comes down to that, and our build option we think is the best option.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So --


MS. LONG:  Mr. Millar, can I just clarify one question --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  -- here?  I think that's with respect to the Niagara suggestion, but what about the other alternative that you talked -- the commercial alternative that you have talked about?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So our evidence -- this is with TransCanada?


MS. LONG:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So our evidence assumes that TransCanada could provide the capacity, and it was discussed quite at length, actually, during the technical conference that we have assumed already that TransCanada can provide it, and they could replace the secondary capacity, so --


MS. LONG:  So you are comfortable that you have everything on the record for the Board --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We are.


MS. LONG:  -- to make an assessment if that were what we determined -- you wouldn't need to file anything else.


MR. KEIZER:  There is an Exhibit A, which is the original pre-filed evidence of Union, a series of calculations or scenarios which look at short-haul and long-haul transportation on commercial options involving TransCanada, and those have been evaluated relative to the project cost, and the project cost, you know, remains economic relative to those --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  And you stand by those.  Nothing needs to be updated?


MR. KEIZER:  My understanding, we do.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, we stand by those.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Long.


Just if you look at the third thing that CME OGVG suggests, it's submit an application to the Board seeking approval for the contracting and gas supply strategy, and that's based on their proposal.


Ordinarily would you require -- let's imagine you had decided at the outset that the Niagara TCPL route was the better way go, that you could do that.  Is that the type of thing you would have sought Board approval for in any event, or is that just something that would have showed up through the, I guess in the QRAM, through your -- and through your gas supply plan.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It showed up through QRAM and also showed up through the memorandum on gas supply that we filed.  In fact, I think in the 2016 rate application we filed last week we filed an updated memorandum, which really is our gas supply strategy for the next -- well, looking backwards and looking forwards a bit, so it is submitted not for approval but more for information.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Now, on occasion you do file for pre-approval for certain -- the Nexus application being a good example of that.  I take it this wouldn't be one of those cases?  Ordinarily you wouldn't think you had to file with the Board for pre-approval for that type of strategy?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, for the 21 TJs of capacity we have at Niagara we did file with the Board for pre-approval and were denied, basically, the Board saying it wasn't a new path, it was existing capacity, essentially, so if we decided to contract at Niagara in the future, we wouldn't come to the Board.  We have already had that discussion.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. KEIZER:  And I think, Mr. Millar, just to clarify, the Nexus application and I believe the Niagara application that Mr. Isherwood is referring to is with respect to pre-approval of the costs.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  And so to the extent that that form of application -- any form of application would be made, it would have to be made within the jurisdiction of the Board, which, you know, we would submit relates to approving just and reasonable rates and the approval related to the costs and not necessarily the origin of a contract, whether it comes from Niagara or otherwise, but I think that's something that's subject to probably discussion in argument.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, those are my questions.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Millar.


Ms. Long, do you have any other questions?

Questions by the Board:

MS. LONG:  I just had a few questions.  As Ms. Innis and Mr. Kitchen will know, we have spent quite a bit of time, Union in this room talking about demand side management over the last little while, and one of the comments that I heard was the need to build now, talk about rapid growth and increase in demand, and I am just wondering how your proposed DSM plans going out to 2020 factored into those comments that you have made about the time is now to build and not to wait?


MR. SHORTS:  The way it works today, the DSM plan that's currently in place would assume a certain amount of volume reduction, and that would be provided to us by way of our -- the forecasted demands that we get in gas supply, so we would get demands that would be net of any DSM activity going forward, so we would then go out and look and see what those changes and demands have an impact on our gas supply portfolio going forward.


For the new proposal, that new proposal, again, is not approved.  I believe some of those have already been taken into account on the long-term view, but we only look at the next couple of years of demand -- of demand and when we do the gas supply plan really focus on the next year.


So those would already be net of whatever our sales group and DSM group have already assumed is going to be achieved through DSM.


MS. LONG:  I guess I am -- I understand what you are saying.  I guess I am just wondering if there is a disconnect when we talk about the need to secure supply for 40 years when we are talking about building a new pipeline.  I mean, this is a long-term asset, and we are just heading into the new -- a new era of increased DSM, and I am just wondering if that has factored into your decision in coming at this time for this ask?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will pass the mic to Mr. Wallace in a second, but we did look at building a 16-inch line instead of a 20-inch line, and the 16-inch line allows us to grow the system for a year or two or three, but doesn't provide the 40-year look that we have now by building a 20-inch, so if DSM was -- to Mr. Shorts' point, DSM is built into the forecast to a certain extent.  To the extent that it's better than forecast, it means the growth will go slower in terms of filling the pipe, but the pipe is economic at year one at full cost.  As it depreciates it becomes even more economic.


So I think DSM is included to a certain level.  To the extent that we can do better at DSM than currently forecast, I think it just fills the pipe slower, but it is still economic even in year one.


MR. KITCHEN:  And Member Long, as you would recall from the DSM proceeding, one of the things that we are doing is preparing a study that will address the very issue that you have brought up.  One of the challenges that we have with Burlington-Oakville and adding facilities to address the demand growth there is that we have been doing DSM for a number of years in the area -- or in general, but we haven't -- we haven't explored the impact of targeted DSM on any particular build as yet.  And that is something that we will address as part of the study, and that will be brought forward at the midterm review.

To the extent that we now need these facilities for Burlington-Oakville is the result of demand that has happened in the past, DSM that has happened in the past, and growth that we are seeing going forward is in light of our DSM. I'm not sure we can stop it now I guess is what I'm saying or keep it -- or make the pipe smaller now.

MS. LONG:  No.  I'm interested in your viewpoint on that because obviously I'm aware of the study that's coming and the midterm review.  But, you know, it is a question that we need to ask.  Is it something that we should wait on?  Or, you know, I think what I'm hearing from you is, no, we can't wait.

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MS. LONG:  I would like to ask another question, and I'm going to use Mr. Rubenstein's compendium on page 12 to look at Figure 5.4.  And I guess I just want to understand this better.

So this Oakville pipeline versus the operationalized alternative proposal, the difference here is the addition of the Kirkwall contract costs of 8.5 million; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In Figure 5.4, the cost of the 135 TJs a day, the Kirkwall contract, it's in both numbers.  The difference between them is really the higher cost associated with the TransCanada transport from Niagara to Kirkwall and to Parkway.  So the higher cost of the alternative is driven by the transport purchases from TransCanada to get Niagara gas into the area and get it to Parkway. 

The numbers -- it may be -- if the -- FRPO 10 -- Exhibit D, FRPO 10 has all of the numbers for all of the years of both those scenarios, and it breaks down the cost components in each.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  I guess my final question was something that was raised with respect to the idea of Union getting a free service and not knowing and assuming -- presuming that, if this pipeline does not go ahead, that there would be additional costs from TCPL and that being part of the settlement agreement.

I guess I'm wondering why something as significant as that would not -- and I don't want to go into discussions in a settlement agreement, Mr. Keizer, so you can stop me, but, I mean, it seems to presume that the pipeline would be built, and Union must have understood that that is not a fait accompli.  There is some risk there.  So is that an issue that was just never discussed, or is there anything that you can provide me any help on that?  I guess I'm just wondering something as significant as, "Gee, what happens if this pipeline is not built?" was not addressed.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the settlement agreement came about because TCPL needed a new framework in order to give them comfort to actually build new pipe.  And both Enbridge and Union and Gaz Metro, as well, wanted to get back to Dawn, but that required TCPL building facilities.

So the settlement agreement created a framework that allowed them to build.  It gave them -- it turned them back to cost of service essentially, which they didn't have that prior to the settlement.  And what we were trying to do is create a scenario of putting all the assets that we need -- that TCPL needs to build into the settlement and all the cash flows that we can predict for the near term, at least, into the settlement and to calculate totals that would be stable between 2015 and 2020.

So I was trying to look at every scenario we could that was big, and we knew we were going to convert from long-haul Empress supply to short-haul Dawn, so that meant less revenue for TransCanada.  And we put in Burlington-Oakville as well because we knew that was going to result in reduction in TCPL revenue as well.

So we were looking at all the big picture items, and Burlington-Oakville was one of them.  So it was actually included as part of it, only because it was something that we knew we were going to take to the Board.  And, to your point, it was not expected to be 100 percent, but it was something that we were going to try and take to the Board to get approval on.  So TCPL built the revenue result of that into their tolls for the next five years to keep them stable.

So part of the offset -- the capacity return back is worth about $8 million as well.  So the Kirkwall to CDA volumes were worth about $8 million as well.  So TCPL lost this bucket of revenue but got the other bucket to kind of keep them whole and build that into -- build that into their forecast for the next five years and create that stability they were trying to get.

So they were really trying to look at what's happening -- everything happening at Parkway, really, and that was a board directive we got in 2012 was the three companies -- three being Enbridge, Union and TCPL -- look at all the projects in the Parkway area, come up with a facility set that makes sense.  And Enbridge's GTA project, for example, got included there as well.  Our Dawn to Parkway expansions got included in terms of assume they happen.  And TCPL got three projects that we assume happened as well.  And they all need -- all of them need regulatory approval, either NEB or OEB.  But just to get a common assumption, we included that.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Ms. Long.  I just have one question, a high-level question about the alternatives.  I believe I heard Mr. Isherwood talk about that, if we look at three alternatives -- the one put forward by Union, the one where you get the full 276 from TransCanada -- and the one put forward by Ms. Cheung -- you would rank them in that order; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The most economic option of the three for a ratepayer would be us building a pipeline.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is that only based on economics, the dollars, or are there other factors that would cause you to rank them that way?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, dollars -- the dollars are the first.

The second is I go back to this is a transmission line to support a very-fast-growing urban area, and the urban area has two benefits or two things around it:  One is it's growing so fast that we need a new pipe to bring new supply into the area, but we also have that right-of-way issue we need to deal with as well in terms of -- it's not about waiting 10 years and seeing what happens, because, by then, we think the right-of-way would be long gone.  We have a right-of-way established now that gives us an opportunity to build in 2016, and it's economic in 2016.  So, for us, it's a matter of building now to establish that new transmission line to support the urban growth in Burlington-Oakville.

DR. ELSAYED:  So even if the costs were equal, you talked about long-term supply, control.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

DR. ELSAYED:  These would be qualitative issues that you would consider and --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, absolutely.  And it goes back to build a pipe where we can control the costs.  We lock in the dollars in 2016 dollars instead of relying on a third party that may have costs -- you know, rate -- rate creep in the future or even availability issues in the future like we have seen in the past.  So it just locks in security of supply for that -- for that market.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  You may have answered that already.  When you look at the costs, by the way, how long -- like, what is the duration that you look at for whatever --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of net present value?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We look at 40 years of the economic.

DR. ELSAYED:  Forty?  Is that the lifetime of the pipe?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's the assumption, the life of the pipe.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  In actual fact, the pipe will last much longer than that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

Okay. I think that's -- that's all I had for questions.  Anything else before we conclude?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I have a couple of questions in redirect --


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, absolutely.
Re-Examination by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  -- which will be brief, but exploring, I guess, two areas that arose during the course of cross-examination.  The first, there was some discussion about deliveries to Burlington station and Bronte station and the implications that that would have with respect to the 8-inch and 12-inch line and that, if that occurred, then the 8-inch and 12-inch wouldn't be used.

And my question really is:  What are the implications of that from Union's -- you know, distribution/operation perspective, and why would Union ever want that to happen from an operation or distribution perspective?

MR. WALLACE:  Maybe I can answer it in reverse.  I don't think we would ever want it to happen.  I mean, what we're doing in that case would be replacing -- we would be stranding assets.  We would be stranding assets that already provide capacity to the market, that can continue to provide capacity to the market, and we are shutting them off and instead buying commercial service to supply that market.  I don't think we would ever want to do that.

MR. REDFORD:  But I think, if you look at the economics, the assets are in place.  They are depreciated paying -- you know, 22 to 25 cents for a service to get gas to Burlington and Bronte wouldn't make any sense at all when you have got depreciated assets at, you know, two to three times less than that.


MR. KEIZER:  And my next question with respect to this is, there was some discussion about the deliveries to Kirkwall and the benefits that that would have with respect to the Dawn Parkway capacity, and so my question is that for deliveries at Kirkwall, to the extent that those deliveries are not delivered firm or on an everyday basis, what's the system benefit with respect to the Dawn Parkway capacity?


MR. WALLACE:  Unless they are delivered on a firm everyday basis, there is no system benefit to the Dawn Parkway -- we have to -- to be able to count on a benefit we have to have those deliveries every day.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I can just add to that.  Because those deliveries are typically by a third party, not held by Union sometimes, we have no control on whether they will show up on each and every day, so unless we have absolute certainty they are going to show up each and every day it provides no benefit.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, those are my questions.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Keizer.


Before we conclude for today, I just wanted to point out that we will follow -- we plan to follow the plan -- or the hearing plan that you have in front of you.  Because of the panel availability we would be starting at 10:30 tomorrow.  And we will have the cross-examination of the OGVG-CME witness panel.  So this now concludes the cross-examination of the Union panel, and I would like to thank you for your appearance today.  I appreciate your input, and with that we are adjourned until 10:30 tomorrow.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:50 p.m.
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